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/ EREHE (R)
" CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

On behalf of the Board of Directors [the "Board”), | am pleased to present the annual/results o

Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its sl{b5|d|ar|es//[/cotlective[y,

Group” or the “Group”] for the year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Year”) for all stakehglders to review.
\

e 'REMT

INDUSTRY REVIEW
“Continuing Decline in Magnesium Prices, Magnesium Enterprises under Pressure”

In 2022, China’s magnesium ingot market saw a downturn after experiencing a historic high in 2021. The
average price of magnesium ingot in 2022 was RMB30,686/ton, a year-on-year increase of 19.88%. The Year's
highest price was RMB51,500/ton in January, while the lowest price was RMB21,500/ton in December. The
price of magnesium in 2022 entered a downward trend after experiencing a sharp rise in 2021. By the end of
2022, the magnesium price had fallen back to the level of August 2021, reaching its lowest value in 17 months.
Downstream processing companies and traders were cautious about placing orders and mainly adopted a
wait-and-see approach. User purchases were also mainly for small amounts of urgent needs. In addition,
the geopolitical tensions affecting energy supply in China and abroad, together with China’s strict epidemic
prevention and control measures, limited the production and logistics of companies. It exacerbated the pressure
on downstream production costs and weakened demand for magnesium raw materials domestically and
internationally.

Despite the ongoing decline in magnesium prices, the production costs of magnesium remained high, putting
pressure on the profits of magnesium production enterprises. Due to the continuous improvement of China’s
environmental protection legal system and the strengthening of environmental protection inspections,
companies have increased their investment in environmental protection upgrades. Coupled with the rise in raw
material costs, the total cost of production continued to rise. The current demand has not significantly improved
as the magnesium price approaches the cost line. However, magnesium prices are expected to be supported by
cost factors and rigid demand in the market. The market expects that improving economic conditions could bring
new positive developments to the magnesium industry.
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HAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

U

“Vehicle Light Weighting is the Trend

On 10 January 2023, the China Passenger Car Association (CPCA) released a\n analys|s report on the passenger
car market, which showed that “in December 2022, the domestic retail sales of new énergy passenger vehicles
reached 640,000 units, an increase of 35.1% year-on-year, maintaining an upward growth trend; the annual retail
sales of new energy passenger vehicles were 5.674 million units, a year-on-year/increase of 90.0%. The sales
of new energy passenger vehicles are expected to reach 8.5 million units in 2023, 'and the penetration rate will
increase from 27.6% in 2022 to 36%.”

The rapid development of new energy vehicles has driven the promotion of vehicle light' weighting. Automotive
light weighting means reducing a car’s weight while ensuring stable improvement of driving safety, durability,
and comfort, among other factors. According to a comparison of the energy-saving potential of different
technological measures released by Siemens, automotive light-weighting ranks first with a 46% energy-saving
potential, making it an ideal way to save fuel and reduce consumption. With the implementation of carbon
neutrality policies and requirements for new energy vehicle mileage, the development of automotive light
weighting is the general trend, driving the demand for lightweight materials such as magnesium and aluminum
alloys. Magnesium alloys have a small density, high specific strength, high specific stiffness, good castability,
and seismic noise reduction capability. It has broad prospects in developing light weighting and integrated die-
casting requirements.

The comparison of energy-saving potential of different technological measures by Siemens

Control system 11%
Vehicles replacement 23%
Batteries techniques 30%
Dynamical system 30%
Vehicle light weighting 46%
0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 35% 40% 45% 50%

Source: Siemens, Soochow Securities
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\ /

Magnesium alloys have significant potential to replace aluminum alloys in automotwe gpp lications. Magnesium
alloys are mainly used in small and medium-sized components such as cases a\nd brackets including instrument
panel brackets, display screen brackets, center console brackets, seat brackets steering wheels, steering
components, and other parts. Aluminum alloys are mainly used in structural body/materials. Using magnesium
alloys can reduce weight by 30% to 40% on top of the aluminum’s lightness. With the improvement of magnesium
alloy die-casting technology, the transition of magnesium parts from small to large, and the decrease in the
magnesium-aluminum price ratio, the advantages of magnesium alloy structural parts replacing aluminum alloy
structural parts has become increasingly prominent.

“Transition of Magnesium Automotive Parts from Small to Large Components”

Original mass (kg)

The effect of using magnesium alloys’ components on
reducing vehicles’ weight is significant The mass after replacing

with magnesium alloys (kg)

40

36 .
35 Weight loss effect (%)
30
25 | 22 21.5 Z
18 18
i~ 16 15 144
15 :
10 7.3
5 2 3 5]
18 2 2.8 14 2.4 14 14g9 1 292 19 2 0.7
0
Engine [Transmission] Wheel | Frame [Instrument|  Oil Stearing | Wheel Seat | Steering| Foot- Seat Valve
block case hub board sump shaft hub frame wheel pedal back body
parts
27% | 30% 22% | 49% | 64% | 33% | 39% | S0% | 44% 36% | 78% | 48% | 72%

Aluminum alloy Steel Zinc alloy

Source: Soochow Securities
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

PROSPECTS ~ “RESTART AND FORGE AHEAD!” /

The prospect of “magnesium replacing aluminum” is broad, and the downstream application of magnesium
alloys continues to expand. In addition to its application in transportation, 3C el\e\ctronjés, and aerospace sectors,
magnesium alloy new materials are used in electric vehicles, biomedicine, 5G base stations, magnesium building
modules, magnesium-based hydrogen storage materials, magnesium batteries, and other fields.

“Creditors’ Scheme Implemented, Successfully Restructuring”

The Company continues to maintain close communication with creditors, shareholders, provisional liquidators,
and other professional parties. With joint effort, all parties have reached the consensus. The Company has
obtained the approval of the requisite majorities of the scheme creditors and court order for the Scheme to be
implemented. Finally, on 8 October 2022, the debt restructuring work, which had lasted for more than two years,
was successfully completed. According to the court order, the Company’s provisional liquidation was officially
revoked.

On behalf of the Group, | wish to thank our shareholders, members of the Board, customers, bankers, and
business partners for their invaluable support. | would also like to sincerely thank the creditors for their
understanding and all the staff for their dedication and hard work. During the Company’s restructuring over the
past two years, the Company worked together as one to face the increasing liquidity pressure from the offshore
restructuring of the Group. In the future, we will not forget our original aspiration. We will continue to forge
ahead and strive to overcome the negative impact caused by the offshore debt restructuring on the Group. We
will start afresh and embrace new challenges!

Shum Sai Chit
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2023

MR R EER AR A A
At 2022 BERE 1



AV VANV I
VAVAN
EEENwmED N

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MEEBRRE FINANCIAL AND BUSINESS SUMMARY

—E_— —E_—fF —E-EF
2022 2021 2020
TERT FHET FHET
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$ 000
(REX) (RER) (RE®)
(Audited) (Audited) (Audited)

WA Revenue 383,899 416,060 744,836
EH Gross profit 46,614 68,775 130,171
ESVIIES Gross profit margin 12.1% 16.5% 17.5%
RATHA AJEL Profit/(loss) attributable to

smAL (B518) owners of the Company 1,404 (331,883) (74,011)
AP Net profit margin A TEAN/A L NERA N/A

BEMRRE Total asset 1,873,174 2,360,619 2,556,832
TR ARER Total equity 1,095,952 1,188,942 1,451,922
RTINS (BECER Cash at banks (including

RITER) pledged bank deposits] 38,297 35,568 46,289

EEL = Gearing ratio

AR AR 2 3 Return on equity TEANA  TEA N/A

2 Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
1 Annual Report 2022
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

During the Year, the revenue of the Group was HK$383,899,000 (2021: HK$416,060,000), representing a year-
on-year decrease of 7.7%; the overall gross profit margin decreased 4.4% to 12.1%, the profits attributable to
shareholders was HK$ 1,404,000 (2021: loss of HK$331,883,000).

A
fEap
Mission
51988 TR S #T el
FRIEHR
Leading a new era
intechnology

development for
magnesium industry

EAL
Positioning
B AT B &R
BEEmMPE
Aspiring to become
China’s largest

magnesium product
enterprise

=1
=T
Vision
BB T ETM R
HiralE¥a
Building a technologically

innovative platform for
rare earth new materials

0

y
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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MANAGEMENT D|SCUSS|0N AND ANALYS|5 [CUNTlNUED]

MAIN OPERATION DATA ANALYSIS

The Group’s revenue in 2022 decreased by approximately HK$32,161,000 or 7.7% compared to the previous year.
This decline in revenue was primarily due to the downturn in China's magnesium ingot market in 2022, despite
the average price of magnesium ingot increasing almost 20% year-over-year. The selling prices of magnesium
ingot entered a downward trend after a sharp rise in 2021, and downstream processing companies and traders
were cautious, limiting production and logistics of companies. This, coupled with geopolitical tensions and
China’s strict epidemic prevention and control measures, weakened demand for magnesium raw materials
domestically and internationally. As a result, the total sales volume of magnesium products of the Group
decreased to 11,098 tonnes in 2022 from 16,901 tonnes in 2021, resulting in the drop in revenue.

Additionally, the production costs of magnesium remained high due to environmental protection upgrades
and rising raw material costs, putting pressure on the profits of magnesium production enterprises. Despite
the ongoing decline in magnesium prices, the market expects that improving economic conditions will bring
positive developments to the magnesium industry. However, the current demand has not significantly improved,
exacerbating the pressure on downstream production costs, and weakening demand for magnesium raw
materials. Thus, the gross profit margins decreased from 16.5% in 2021 to 12.1% in 2022.

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES ANALYSIS

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses were approximately HK$3,073,000 (2021: HK$4,381,000]), which mainly
comprised of marketing expenses and sales staff wages. Selling and distribution expenses to revenue ratio was
approximately 0.8% (2021: 1.1%).

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses mainly comprised of expenses such as staff remuneration, depreciation and
amortization, audit and professional fees and research and development. The administrative expenses for the
Year was approximately HK$126,222,000 (2021: HK$99,610,000], the increase is mainly due to the provision on
long outstanding prepayment of approximately HK$28,620,000 (2021: HK$nil).

Gain on debt restructuring

In 2022, the Creditors” Scheme was approved by the scheme creditors and sanctioned by the High Court of
Hong Kong. The liabilities, including the principals and accrued interests of the scheme debts, amounted to
HK$847,781,000 and have been discharged and allocated into a 5-year term extension option and a convertible
bonds swap option.

As part of the Creditors” Scheme, the Company issued 65,843,900 new ordinary shares and convertible
bonds worth HK$458,390,000 to the creditors. Accordingly, a gain on debt restructuring of approximately
HK$267,382,000 has been recognized for the year ended 31 December 2022. For detailed computations, please
refer to note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

We have worked closely with creditors and other professionals over the past two years, and the successful
implementation of the Creditors” Scheme is a significant milestone in our efforts to strengthen our financial
position. We appreciate the cooperation and support of our stakeholders throughout this process, and we remain
committed to maintaining open and transparent communication with them.

R E IR AR AR 15
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS [CUNTlNUED]

Impairment and Allowance

In 2022, the Group recognised a provision for impairment loss on non-current assets, amounting to
approximately HK$61,530,000 (2021: HK$183,577,000). This provision is a non-recurring and non-cash item,
which has been attributed to the continuous loss-making performance of the Group’s magnesium business.

Furthermore, the Group has increased its allowance for expected credit loss on trade receivables to
approximately HK$104,191,000 in 2022, compared to HK$53,243,000 in 2021. This increase in allowance for
expected credit loss is a result of a careful review of the Group's credit risk exposure in light of the ongoing
uncertainties in the business environment.

Finance Costs

In 2022, the Group’s financial results show a significant decrease in finance costs. The finance cost for the year
amounted to approximately HK$20,923,000, which is a year-on-year reduction of approximately HK$48,478,000
or 69.9%. This decrease in finance cost is primarily attributed to the effective implementation of the Creditors’
Scheme, which eliminated the recognition of any further default interests in respect of the offshore debt.

The Creditors” Scheme has enabled the Group to improve its financial position by reducing the effective interest
rate, which has decreased from 8.12% in 2021 to 7.21% in 2022. This decrease in effective interest rate has
contributed to a lower cost of borrowing for the Group, which has positively impacted its financial performance.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

Over the past two years, the Company, creditors, and all professional parties have made joint efforts to approve
the proposed Creditors” Scheme, which was ultimately approved by requisite majorities of the scheme creditors
and the High Court of Hong Kong. The Creditors” Scheme became effective on 31 May 2022, and the Company
has since received the discharge order from the Bermuda Court, resulting in the dismissal of the provisional
liquidations of the Company.

The Creditors” Scheme offers two options for creditors: the Term Extension Option and the Convertible Bonds
Swap Option. The former extends the repayment date of Admitted Claims for five years from the Scheme Effective
Date, with Admitted Claims being settled through various payment options. The latter offers the conversion of
Admitted Claims into Convertible Bonds with a maturity date of the fifth anniversary of the Scheme Effective
Date.

Due to the successful implementation of the Creditors” Scheme, the Scheme Debts, which were initially
defaulted, have been discharged and extended by five years. Consequently, the Company’s net current liabilities
position of HK$483,515,000 as of 31 December 2021 turned into a net current assets position of HK$254,946,000
as of 31 December 2022.
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IMPAIRMENT OF NON-CURRENT ASSETS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, certain subsidiaries in the magnesium product business incurred
losses due to a downturn in China’s magnesium ingot market, which experienced a sharp rise in 2021 but
entered a downward trend in 2022. This led downstream processing companies and traders to be cautious about
placing orders, exacerbating the pressure on production costs and weakening demand for magnesium raw
materials domestically and internationally. Despite the ongoing decline in magnesium prices, production costs
remained high, putting pressure on the profits of magnesium production enterprises.

In view of the economic performance of the cash generating unit ("CGU") of magnesium product business,
which was worse than expected, management of the Group concluded there was an indication for impairment
and conducted impairment assessment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, and intangible
assets with carrying amounts of HK$1,337,361,000, HK$40,629,000, and HK$20,939,000, respectively (2021:
HK$1,626,848,000, HK$47,994,000, and HK$25,406,000, respectively).

The Group estimates the recoverable amount of CGU, to which the asset belongs when it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount individually, including allocation of corporate assets when reasonable and
consistent basis can be established. The sum of present value free cash flow and carrying amounts of assets of
CGU was approximately HK$1,445,474,000.

The recoverable amount of CGU has been determined based on a value in use calculation. That calculation
uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by the management of the Group covering
the following 5 years as at 31 December 2022 with the pre-tax discount rate of 14.4% and the corporate tax
rate of 25%. The cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using 2% growth rate, which is based
on the industry growth forecasts and does not exceed the long-term average growth rate for the relevant
industry. Another key assumption for the value in use calculated is the budgeted gross margin with a range
of approximately 18% to 25%, which is determined based on the cash-generating unit's past performance and
management expectations for the market development.

The Group engaged Roma Appraisals Limited, independent valuer, as the valuer to perform the valuations of the
CGUs of the Group as at 31 December 2022.

The board of directors and audit committee of the Group considered that the basis and assumptions used for
preparing the cash flow projection and the valuation methodology, basis and assumptions used for preparing the
valuation report were reasonable and appropriate.

Exchange rate risk

The Group mainly operates in the Mainland China and Hong Kong and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising
from primarily with respect to Renminbi, Hong Kong Dollars and United States Dollars. Foreign exchange risk
arises from future commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and net investments in foreign
operations. The Group’'s management does not expect the net foreign currency risk from these activities to be
significant and hence, the Group does not presently hedge the foreign exchange risks.

The Group has planned to periodically reviews liquid assets and liabilities held in currencies other than Hong
Kong Dollars to evaluate its foreign exchange risk exposure and consider the usage of hedging instruments
when necessary.
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Interest rate risk

For interest-sensitive products and investments, our Group analyses its interest rate exposure on a dynamic
basis and considers managing this risk in a cost-effective manner when appropriate, through variety of means.

Credit risk

The Group has always been aware of the credit risk exposure of our customers. In order to minimise the
credit risk, management of the Group has authorised a team responsible for determining credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
The procedures required that all clients were regularly assessed so that the Group could keep track of their
transaction records and credit history.

Liquidity risk
As at 31 December 2022, the Group's current borrowings amounted to approximately HK$114,592,000 while its
cash and cash equivalents only amounted to approximately HK$28,599,000. As disclosed in note 3 to the financial

statements, the Group is exposed to liquidity risk if it is not able to raise sufficient fund to meet its financial
obligations.

The directors of the Company have given careful consideration to the future liquidity of the Group, details of
which are set out in note 3 to the financial statements.

Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or
from external events. Responsibility for managing operational risks basically rests with functional departments
of the Group and its subsidiaries. Key function of the Group is to guide their standard operating procedures,
limits of authority and reporting framework. Our management will assess key operational exposures and effect
raised in business development regularly, implement relevant measures and improve the internal control so that
risk can be responded and mitigated on a timely and effective manner.

Investment risk

Investment risk can be defined as the likelihood of extension of its return period relative to the expected return
or occurrence of losses on any particular investment attributable to changes of external factors. The Group is
well aware of the importance of exploring various business opportunities and territories on a continual basis, and
implemented this as the key task of the year. Key concern of projects investment framewaork will be balancing
risk and return across different investments, and thus risk assessment is a core aspect of the investment
decision process. Proper investment assessment and due diligence procedures have been set up and detailed
analysis will be made before approving investments. Regular updates on the progress of the investments of our
Group would be submitted to the Board.

MANPOWER AND RETENTION RISK

Manpower risk means huge demand for talents because of the Group’s rapid business development while at the
same time facing severe competition over specialists from the industry and turnover of manpower. Our Group
may face the risk of not being able to recruit and retain key personnel and talents with appropriate and required
skills, experience and competence to cope with the expansion of business which would meet with our business
objectives. Our Group will periodically conduct a thorough analysis over its remuneration system, as well as
incentive mechanism and optimize the compensation structure so as to ensure remuneration packages can
align reasonably with market standard and maintain its competitiveness. Meanwhile, recruitment channels are
broadened and the talent pool of senior management are strengthened, so as to further enhance the promotion
opportunities and career path of employees. Systematic staff training are also being further enhanced to
increase the overall effectiveness of training and the dissemination of corporate cultures and values.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

Environmental policies and performance mainly means that the PRC Government is paying increasing attention
to environmental rules and policies and is imposing more stringent regulatory requirements. The Group's
subsidiaries and newly acquired enterprises have been operating for a long while which might lag behind in
certain environmental and duty requirements promulgated by the PRC Government. The Group monitors impact
on business development closely raised from movements of environmental policy and external factors. Acting
in an environmentally responsible manner and performing social responsibilities, the Group is committed to
improving and maintaining the long term sustainability of the communities in which it operates. The Group
endeavours to comply with laws and regulations regarding environmental protection and adopt effective
measures to achieve efficient use of resources, energy saving and waste reduction. Green initiatives and
measures have been adopted in daily operation of the Group. Such initiatives include recycling of resources,
energy saving measures and water saving practices.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s subsidiaries in Mainland China while the
Company is listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The Group’s operations accordingly shall comply with
relevant laws and regulations in Mainland China and Hong Kong. During the year ended 31 December 2022 and
up to the date of this report, to the best of our knowledge, the Group has no material non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations in Mainland China and Hong Kong.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES AND KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The number of employees of the Group was approximately 377 as at 31 December 2022. The remuneration of
employees was determined by the Group with reference to their performance, work experience and current
market conditions. Employee benefits include annual leave, medical insurance and provident fund scheme. There
has been no labour dispute or significant change in the relationship with the employees that affect the normal
operations of the Group. The Directors believe that the Group maintains admirable relations with its employees.

Our Group understands that it is important to maintain good relationship with business partners, shareholders,
investors and banks to achieve its long-term goals. To keep up with our key stakeholders closely, the Group has
formulated corresponding scheme about investor relationship, and also holds tailored activities from time to
time, such as annual/extraordinary general meetings, on-site visits, seminars and road-shows. Accordingly, our
senior management has kept good communication, promptly exchanged ideas and shared business latest update
about development of the Group with our stakeholders when appropriate. During the year, there was no material
dispute between our Group and its business partners or banks.
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PROJECT OVERVIEW
Dolomite Mine

The Group’s dolomite mine is situated in Baishan City, Jilin Province, the PRC. The mine is operated by open-pit
method, and therefore no additional exploration works are involved or required. Only simple infrastructure works
for open-pit mining are involved in the development activities, and no underground exploration or structural
warks are involved. The dolomite mined is raw material for producing magnesium products of the Group. The
transportation cost for raw material is relatively low due to the close proximity of the mine to the production base
of the Group.

The dolomite mine of the Group was reported under the Chinese resource/reserve categories. As at 3
December 2022, the anticipated resource and reserve volumes were determined based on the yearly reduction
of quantity mined to calculate the remaining resource and reserve volumes. There is no material change in the
assumptions of estimation by the Group as compared with those previously disclosed. The resource and reserve
volumes was reviewed by the Group’s internal geological experts. For the year ended 31 December 2022, there
was no dolomite output. As compared with the state as at 31 December 2021, there was no material change in
the resource estimate and ore reserve of the dolomite mine.

The expenditure incurred in mining activities of dolomite for the year ended 31 December 2022 were
approximately HK$nil while the expenditure incurred in exploration and development activities was HK$Nil.
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The Company recognises the importance of good corporate
governance to the long-term development of the Group and
has devoted considerable efforts in identifying, formulating,
implementing and enhancing corporate governance practices in
accordance with the needs of the Group. As mentioned below,
the Company has established the relevant committees/sub-
committee and adopted certain internal policies to improve
internal controls and enhance transparency of business
operation of the Group with a view to protect the interests of its
stakeholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company has
complied with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices [the
“Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Listing Rules”), save for the deviations as disclosed in
“Chairman and Chief Executive Officer” section.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct of the Group
regarding securities transactions of the directors of the Company
(the "Directors”) on terms no less exactly than required standard
set out in the Model Code. Having made specific enquiry of all
Directors, all Directors confirmed that they have complied with
the required standard set out in the Model Code throughout the
year ended 31 December 2022.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT [CUNTlNUED]

THE BOARD

Currently, the Board comprises the following five Directors:

Executive Directors

Shum Sai Chit (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer]
Chi Sile

Independent Non-executive Directors

Kwong Ping Man
Cheung Sound Poon
Lin Pengxuan

Functions of the Board

The Board is responsible for formulating the overall strategies
and policies of the Group, reviewing and monitoring its
financial performance, including preparing and approving
financial statements and overseeing operational matters of
the management, considering the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting
and financial reporting function and their training programmes
and budget. Daily business operations and administrative
functions of the Group are delegated to the management.

Board meetings and practices

The Board meets regularly and board meetings are held at least
four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals. Notices
and agenda of regular board meetings are served to all Directors
at least fourteen days before the meetings to ensure that all
Directors are given the opportunity to attend and to include
matters in the agenda. Discussion materials of regular board
meetings are sent to all Directors for their study at least three
days prior to the meetings. Draft minutes of board meetings
are circulated to all Directors for review and comments within a
reasonable time after the meetings prior to confirmation. Minutes
are recorded in sufficient detail of the matters considered by the
Board and decisions reached.

R E BT AR AR 927
2022 BFERE

A




EXRERRE (B)
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

EEgm
EEESERER®

THE BOARD (continued)
Board meetings and practices (continued)

REBE-TE-_—_F+_A=+—BItF During the year ended 31 December 2022, five board meetings
ERN  ARARHKBTRAIREFS® were held by the Company, and the individual attendance rate
O REERETCLS ZECCR of each Director at meetings of the Board, its committees and
KRR GZ @R HEEMT General Meetings is as follows:
FritifE BTz g3
Attended/held
3 B % el
EE ZEEEE ZESER ZESEE e VN
Audit Nomination ~ Remuneration Members
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings
HTES Executive Directors
uxr Shum Sai Chit L/ - N - 11
e Chi Sile LA - - - >
BUFHITES Independent Non-executive
Directors
B Kwong Ping Man 4l4 5/5 N 1 i
RER Cheung Sound Poon 44 5/5 - 1 1
HhEgE Lin Pengxuan'! 212 3/3 - - 0/0
AR Kwan Ngai Kit? 212 2/2 N - /
il RIB-—FAA-THEZHE i appointed on 20 September 2022
4 REZFB-—FRA-+LHERE 2 retired on 27 June 2022

BEMHRIEI 001 K&(2) - AR 10AMK
ZHRFE AR ERTRHEE 2B
FHITESE > MBYIFRITEEHRIE
LE—REBRESTNEBRYKER
ER -EZeCWIEBIIANITES
BIE _E AR BIEE 3. 1316 5t H & 32 M mn (& B
e 2 FERERK -

SEEEREBCRYEFEBRYE X
% KB HEMER AEANREE

Pursuant to Rules 3.10(1) and (2], and 3.10A of the Listing Rules,
sufficient number of Independent Non-executive Directors have
been appointed and at least one of the remaining Independent
Non-executive Directors has appropriate accounting or related
financial management expertise. The Board has received annual
confirmation of independence from each of its Independent Non-
executive Directors as required under Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.

There is no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships among members of the Board.
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THE BOARD (continued)
Directors” Continuous Professional Development

The Company updates the Directors of the latest changes
in the Listing Rules, Companies Ordinance and other
applicable regulatory requirements from time to time. Apart
from encouraging the Directors to participate in continuous
professional development ("CPD") courses to refresh and
enhance their knowledge and skills, the Company also arranged
an industry-related in-house seminar for the Directors and
provided them with reading materials relating to the directors’
duties. All Directors have provided the Company with their
records of training they received during the year ended 31
December 2022.

A summary of the trainings participated by the Directors during
the year ended 31 December 2022 is as follows:

T ETRAREMEREERESHERS A
HIEHT AR

FEEE
BREEI
1& A
Types of
continuous
professional
development
&2 Directors training Notes
BITES Executive Directors
o HERE Shum Sai Chit B
PERIESS Chi Sile B
BYFHITES Independent Non-executive Directors
BB IR Kwong Ping Man AKB
Aand B
BRE AR Cheung Sound Poon AKB
Aand B
MBS Lin Pengxuan AKB
Aand B
B 3E Notes:
A HEEESIEIIRIE A Attending seminar(s) or training session(s)
B: MERE TWREBAAREBIXEEFHRAERE B: Reading newspaper, journals and updates relating to the Company’s business or

directors’ duties and responsibilities, the latest development of the Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirements, etc.
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THE BOARD (continued)
Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the following corporate
governance duties of the Company in accordance with the “Terms
of Reference of Corporate Governance Function” adopted by it:

(a) to develop and review the Company’ s policies and
practices on corporate governance and make appropriate
recommendations;

(b) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(c) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
applicable to employees and Directors; and

(d) to review the Company’s compliance with the Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the year under review, the Board has performed the
following corporate governance duties:

e Reviewed and approved the contents of the Corporate
Governance Report included in the 2021 annual report of the

Company; and

e Adopted the "Board Diversity Policy".
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT [CUNTlNUEU]

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Subsequent to the retirement of Ms. Chi Bi Fen as Chief Executive
Officer in 2019, Mr. Shum Sai Chit, the chairman and an executive
Director, has been appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company.

Mr. Shum Sai Chit has numerous years of experience in the
management of the Company and is familiar with all aspects of
the Group’s operations and the Board considers that Mr. Shum
Sai Chit is well qualified to take up the role of the Chief Executive
Officer.

Following the appointment of Mr. Shum as Chief Executive Officer,
the Company does not have a separate chairman and Chief
Executive Officer and Mr. Shum holds both positions, in which
there is deviation to code provision A.2.1 of Corporate Governance
Code as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, which
provides (among other matters) that the roles of the chairman
and the chief executive officer should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Shum Sai Chit had
been in charge of the overall management of the Company since
2015 and the Company considered that such arrangement would
promote the efficient formulation and implementation of the
Company’s strategies which would enable the Group to further
develop its businesses effectively at this stage. The Board will
review the current structure from time to time and shall make
necessary arrangements when the Board considers appropriate.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The terms of appointment of the Non-executive Directors and the
Independent Non-executive Directors are fixed for a specific term,
and shall be subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company (the "Bye-laws").
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Currently, the Company has three committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee respectively. Each committee is delegated with
specific authorities by the Board in assisting the Board to
discharge its duties and to administer particular aspects of the
Group’s activities. The roles and functions of each committee are
summarized below:

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established in 1999. The Company
has adopted Terms of Reference of the Audit Committee in
compliance with code provision C.3.3 of the Code. The Audit
Committee comprises three Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Kwong Ping Man (chairman of the Audit
Committee), Mr. Cheung Sound Poon and Mr. Lin Pengxuan.

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee is to provide
an independent and professional advice on financial reporting and
review the internal control of the Group.

The Audit Committee will report to the Board of the significant
issues discussed by the Committee for the Board's information
and/or consideration.

The Audit Committee has held five meetings in the year ended 31
December 2022 and has reviewed the final results for the period
ended 31 December 2021 and the interim results for the six
months ended 30 June 2022, and confirmed that the accounting
principles and practices adopted as well as the disclosures made
in such financial statements were appropriate, accurate and fair.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

BOARD COMMITTEES /continuea)
Audit Committee (continued)

The Audit Committee has also discussed with the auditors on the
scope of audit for the year ended 31 December 2022, and reviewed
the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff
of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function, and
their training programmes and budget.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the annual results of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established in 1996. The
Company has adopted Terms of Reference of the Remuneration
Committee in compliance with code provision B.1.2 of the
Code. The Remuneration Committee comprises an Executive
Director, namely Mr. Shum Sai Chit (Chairman of Remuneration
Committee] and two Independent Non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Kwong Ping Man and Mr. Cheung Sound Poon.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the Company's policy and
structure in relation to remuneration of the Directors and senior
management of the Company. It schedules to meet at least once
a year to review and determine the remuneration packages of
the Executive Directors and senior management and to make
recommendation to the Board of the remuneration of Non-
executive Director. In determining and approving the remuneration
of Directors and senior management of the Company, the
Remuneration Committee will take into consideration of various
factors such as market competitiveness, individual performance
and profitability of the Company and its business units.

The Remuneration Committee has held one meeting in the year
ended 31 December 2022 to review the existing remuneration
policies of the Directors and senior management of the Company,
etc..
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BOARD COMMITTEES /continued)
Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established in 2012. The
Company has adopted Terms of Reference of the Nomination
Committee with reference to code provision A.5.2 of the Code. The
Nomination Committee comprises an Executive Director, namely
Mr. Shum Sai Chit (chairman of the Nomination Committee] and
two Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Kwong
Ping Man and Mr. Lin Pengxuan.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the
structure, size and composition of the Board, identifying
individuals suitably qualified to become Directors and making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
reappointment of Directors, assessing the independence of
the Independent Non-executive Directors and monitoring the
implementation of the Board Diversity Policy of the Company.

The Nomination Committee has held one meeting in the year
ended 31 December 2022, together with by means of written
resolutions, to review and deal with the following major issues:

e  Reviewed the qualifications and experiences of individual
Directors as well as their roles and responsibilities in the
Group to ensure the existing Board structure is fit for the
business growth of the Group; and

e  Reviewed the degree of diversity of the existing Board.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY SUMMARY

The Company has adopted the Board Diversity Policy. The
Company recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity
of its Board members. All Board appointments will be based
on meritocracy and competence, and the candidates will be
considered against certain objective criteria such as gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
qualifications, areas of experience, skills, knowledge and length
of services, etc. The ultimate decision will be based on merits and
contributions that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

AUDITORS" REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the total remunerations
paid/payable by the Company to its external auditors in respect of
the audit services and non-audit services are as follows:

F#ET

BR 7% 58 B Types of services HK$°000
BEZIRTS Audit services 1,000
B Total 1,000

EERUVBHRR2ER

EERARSEREEXAREVTEERATF
WRBASESEHEMRAREE WK
R - BE_ZE_—_F+-_A=+—
ALEFE  AEEBRGHREFAENY
1,404,000/ 7T °

ARBZEMREHMBRR RS
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR PREPARATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing
the financial statements which give a true and fair view of the
state of the Group’s affairs and results. The Group recorded a
consolidated net profit of approximately HK$1,404,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

The statement of the auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out
in the “Independent Auditor’'s Report” on pages 53 to 61 of this
annual report.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Since 20 August 2015, Mr. Fan Kwok Man, Raymond has
been appointed as the Company Secretary. Mr. Fan holds a
Bachelor of Business Administration in Insurance, Financial and
Actuarial Analysis from the Chinese University of Hong Kong
and he is member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and has over 10 years of experience in auditing,
accounting, financial management and corporate finance.

According to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Fan has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the
year ended 31 December 2022.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convention of Special General meeting

Pursuant to Bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws, Shareholders holding at
the date of deposit of the requisition not less than 10% of the paid
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the Board or the Secretary of the Company,
to require a special general meeting to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and
such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of
such requisition to the Company’s registered office. If within 21
days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionists themselves may do so in accordance
with the provisions of Section 74(3) of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981 (the "Companies Act”).
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS /continued)
Putting Forward Proposals at General meetings by Shareholders

Pursuant to Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act, registered
Shareholders are entitled to put forward a proposal at a general
meeting if they:

(a) represent not less than 5% of the total voting rights of the
Company at the date of the deposit of the requisition; or

(b) are not less than 100 registered Shareholders.

The written requisition stating the resolution(s) should be duly
signed by the registered Shareholder(s) concerned, accompanied
by a statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to the
matter referred to in the proposed resolution or the business
to be dealt with must be deposited at the Company’s registered
office. The Company would take appropriate actions and make
necessary arrangements. The Shareholder(s) concerned would
be responsible for the expenses incurred in giving effect thereto
in accordance with the requirements under Sections 79 and 80 of
the Companies Act once valid documents are received.

Enquiries from Shareholders

The Board welcomes views, enquires and concerns in relation to
the management and corporate governance of the Group from
Shareholders. Shareholders may at any time send their enquires
and/or concerns to the Board in writing by email (info@remt.com.
hk), by fax ((852) 2802 2697) or by mail to the principal place of
business of the Company for follow up.

For shareholding enquiries, Shareholders may contact the Hong
Kong branch share registrar and transfer office of the Company,
Tricor Secretaries Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT

The Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws of the Company
was updated on the websites of the Company and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong ("Stock Exchange”) on 13 June 2018 and
there is no other change in such constitutional document during
the year.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has overall responsibilities for risk management and
internal control of the Group. The system of internal control is
designed to manage and mitigate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives with reasonable assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

During the year under review, the Board has conducted review
of the effectiveness of the internal control system of the Group.
The scope of review would cover risk management functions,
financial, operational and compliance controls, the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function and their training
programmes and budget, etc..

The Company have formulated an inside information policy
providing guideline on handling inside information. The Company
regularly reminds the directors and employees about compliance
with all policies adopted by the Company regarding inside
information including the Model Code set out in Appendix 10
of the Listing Rules in relation to dealings in securities of the
Company.

38 Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2022

REEBR

AEBEHOMBEREEZBFR - 1B
AEERRERNERE -

ARABEBUATHARREEZNEH
AEBEZEHBERALEE - U RRE
EARRREBR BN EHEER

(a) EHEBRRFEARRAZ D HR
T BEREMBRFBHELER
XM ¥ EEREFEXHERAR
KBS P L

ol

b) BEANARBIMBAETER
s

() EARARPHEEHBBEARARAD?
MREMZIEM

(d) BRBRRRGUAERRERDFE
BEAMERRBRER &

e

) BBREEFBBARRZBAEER
NETREITEA -

EARAARIR-_E-_—_F~A-++HE
ﬁZtFk%@ﬁﬁQt'%ﬁ%%&
MRk  EREF - BEZHEEHR
BRY¥ROTEBRRG 2 — &&Vixm
REYEFSBB  ARRABHITR_ZT=
55 B Sk A B 4B A B B 55 B 4 B
ZJE—STHRERBAFRSBREFATBH A
I HE A B BRI S ERRBFRE o

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT [CUNTlNUEU]

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Group is committed to enhance investor relationship by
increasing its transparency to the investment community.

The following measures have been taken by the Company to keep
investors informed of the latest developments and news of the
Group and to facilitate a two-way communication between the
Company and its Shareholders:

(a)  Mailing corporate communication documents such as
interim reports, annual reports and circulars to the
Shareholders periodically and uploading the same on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange;

(b)  Publishing announcements through the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange;

(c)] Making available of the Company’s corporate and products
information on its website;

(d) Organizing general meetings to facilitate direct exchange of
views between the Shareholders and the management of the
Company; and

(e}  Encouraging investors to communicate with the Company
through the Company’'s website from time to time.

At the Company's last AGM held on 27 June 2022, all the
resolutions relating to the adoption of financial statements, re-
election of Directors, reappointment of auditors and grant of
general mandates to issue and repurchase shares have been duly
passed. The forthcoming AGM of the Company is scheduled to be
held in June 2023 or any other dates as specified in further notice
of AGM meeting to be published on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange later.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. SHUM Sai Chit, age 65, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Shum was the
Managing Director of Go Modern Limited which was principally
engaged in manufacturing of textile products and trading
activities. In 1984, Mr. Shum joined Fujian Textiles Import and
Export Corporation as a Manager to oversee importing and
exporting of textile products. Mr. Shum is a graduate of Consumer
Product Pricing and Statistics. Mr. Shum was also an executive
director of Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited (stock code:
509) until 31 July 2021.

Ms. CHI Sile, aged 34, was appointed as an executive director of
the Company on 1 August 2021. Prior to her appointment, she was
the director of investor relations department of Century Sunshine
Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 509) and responsible for
managing investor relations. Ms. Chi holds a MBA degree from
the University of Hong Kong and a double degree of Bachelor
of Laws and Bachelor of Arts from the University of Western
Australia. Ms. Chi is a member of the Hong Kong Investor
Relations Association. Ms. Chi is the daughter of Mr. Chi Wen Fu,
the chairman and executive director of Century Sunshine.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. KWONG Ping Man, age 58, is a director of O'Park Corporate
Services Limited which provides corporate advisory services.
Mr. Kwong had served as the chief financial officer of various
companies for almost seven years. Mr. Kwong has over 15
years of experience in accounting, finance and administration.
He obtained a master's degree in Professional Accounting
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is a member
of the Australian Society of Certified Practising Accountants,
fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, and associate member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Company Secretaries. Mr. Kwong is currently an independent
non-executive director of Tang Palace (China) Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 1181), Landrick Holding Limited (Stock Code: 2132)
and Royal Deluxe Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 3789). He was
an independent non-executive director of Dragon King Group
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8493) from 15 December 2017 to 9
April 2021.

Mr. CHEUNG Sound Poon, age 62, is currently a senior audit
manager at Chui & Kwok (CPA). He was an audit senior at Gary W.
K. Yam & Co. [CPA). Mr. Cheung has over 40 years of experience
in accounting and auditing. He is currently an independent non-
executive director of Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited
(stock code: 509).

Mr. LIN Pengxuan, aged 39, was the senior compliance manager
of Donghai International Financial Holdings Company Limited
till 8 August 2022 and prior to that engagement, he has worked
as the Compliance Director of Zhongrong PT Securities Limited
and Zhongrong PT Finance Limited and the Chief Compliance
Officer of Well Link Securities Limited. Mr. Lin has over eight
years of working experience in internal control and compliance.
Mr. Lin has obtained a Ph.D. in International Finance of Applied
Economics from Xiamen University, the Master of Laws from
Translational Law and Business University and the Bachelor of
Laws from East China University of Politics and Law.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LU Tianyuan, age 58, is responsible for the corporate affairs
management of the Group. Mr. Lu is a graduate of Chinese
Language and Literature and is an economist. He has over 15
years of relevant experience in corporate affairs management.
Prior to joining the Group, he has worked in a large alloy
enterprise for over 25 years. He joined the Group in 2015.

Mr. ZHU Xinlong, age 46, is responsible for production, operation,
and research and development of the products. Mr. Zhu has more
than 20 years of experience in magnesium industry, specializing
in the production process and organization management of
magnesium and magnesium alloys. He has long served in
magnesium and magnesium alloys enterprises in China. He
joined the Group in 2019.
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EEEHRG
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Board presents their report and the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries is set out in note 1 to the
financial statements, respectively.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including
a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing
the Group and an indication of likely future development in the
Group’s business, can be found in the Management Discussion
and Analysis set out on pages 12 to 25 of this annual report. This
discussion forms part of this directors’ report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group recognises environmental protection is of vital
importance to the long-term development of the Group. In order
to minimise the environmental impact, the Group will continue to
review and improve the effectiveness of its management practices
from time to time. "Environmental, Social and Governance
Report” will be published on or before 28 April 2023. For details,
please refer to the Company’s website.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2022 and the
Group’'s financial position at that date are set out in the financial
statements on pages 62 to 69.

No interim dividend was paid by the Company during the year
under review. No payment of final dividend to Shareholders is
recommended for the year ended 31 December 2022. The retained
earnings of the Group as at 31 December 2022 was approximately
HK$362,694,000.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
For the year ended 31 December 2022:

(i} The Group's largest customer and the five largest customers
accounted for 22.7% and 48.9% respectively of the Group’s
total revenue.

(i)  The Group's largest supplier and the five largest suppliers
accounted for 19.8% and 53.0% respectively of the Group’s
total purchases [not including purchases of items which are
of capital in nature).

According to the understanding of the Board, none of the
Directors, their associates or any Shareholders who owned more
than 5% of the Company’s share capital had any interest in the
five largest customers or the five largest suppliers.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities, and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial
years, as extracted from the audited financial statements and
restated as appropriate, is set out on pages 183 to 184. This
summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Except as disclosed in the note 30 to the financial statements,
there were no movements in the Company’s share capital during
the year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda (as amended] ("Companies Act”) amounted
to HK$669,253,000. Under the Companies Act, the Company’s
contributed surplus is also available for distribution to the
Shareholders. No dividend shall be paid or distribution made
out of contributed surplus if to do so would render the Company
unable to pay its liabilities as they become due or the realisable
value of its assets would thereby become less than its liabilities.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors:

Shum Sai Chit (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer]
Chi Sile

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Kwong Ping Man
Cheung Sound Poon
Lin Pengxuan®
Kwan Ngai Kit®?

il appointed on 20 September 2022
&l retired on 27 June 2022

Pursuant to Bye-law 86(2) of the Bye-laws, Mr. Lin Pengxuan will
hold office until the forthcoming AGM of the Company and being
eligible for re-election at the AGM.

Pursuant to Bye-law 87 of the Bye-laws, Mr. Shum Sai Chit and
Mr. Kwong Ping Man will retire by rotation and, being eligible,
offer himself for re-election at the AGM.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the AGM
has a service contract with the Group which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of its Independent Non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Kwong Ping Man, Mr. Cheung
Sound Poon and Mr. Lin Pengxuan, an annual confirmation
confirming their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules.

Accordingly, the Company considers all the Independent Non-
executive Directors are independent.
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EEZHRzRFED DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES EERER R SER @ DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (continued)
R_F_—F+=A="F—H REAF  At31 December 2022, the interests of the Directors and their PAEEEEER 7 < m (I R) Interests in the shares of associated corporations (long position)
NAREHFRBAEBKRAIIEIS2GEMEFE associates in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
ZERMAREE - SR R AP 8% and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
10F7 8 2 1R 2E 7 Bl M AN 1 &) K Bgt 32 B PR the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the "SFO”)}, as recorded WL D AREEL T EERYE (FR)
R RESERBEZHBEALIREAR in the register maintained by the Company under Section 352 of Number of ordinary shares interested or deemed
AINABMEAR (EERLES LHAEKRI the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock to be interested (long position)
([ KRG HHI) EXVER) #EA 2 Ik h Exchange pursuant to the Model Code set out in Appendix 10 to e
NAEBERR D 2w T the Listing Rules, were as follows: E{é:ﬁ_\
; e
E;’%%lf’z}ﬁﬂﬁfﬁ - HEARR D R &% <~ Interests in the Shares, underlying shares and debenture of the Company gEps T Pt AR RER %mgg @i Exﬁl:t
e % of issued
share
AL e e Number of capital of
ﬁﬁ*&ﬁﬁﬁﬁ‘%%ﬁﬁﬁzaﬁﬁﬁﬁ _ Personal Family options associated
Nuinberofierdinary shares intenesiediordeemed tohieiinterested Names of Directors Name of associated corporation interests interests held Total  corporation
/'\E
Egﬁ;ﬁ% PauE et EEERERAR (L) 14,666,305 - 20000000 34,666,305 0.76%
55 TR Shum Sai Chit Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited
- EAER RixER  BREHE REER ik BAL (‘Century Sunshine’)
Approximate kg 25 36,736,742 - - 36,736,842 0.80%
percentage of ChiSile Century Sunshine
interests in REA il - - 5,000,000 5,000,000 0.11%
the issued Cheung Sound Poon Century Sunshine
share capital
Personal Family Number of Corporate of the
Director interests interests  options held interests Total Company
#e
Long position
LRz - - 1,500,000 - - 0.38%
Shum Sai Chit
RBR - - 250,000 - - 0.06%
Kwong Ping Man
REX - - 250,000 - - 0.06%
Cheung Sound Poon
KR
Short position
it
Nil
Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited HEREERRRAR AT
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES /continued)
Interests in the shares of associated corporations (long position) (continued)

Save as disclosed above, at 31 December 2022, none of the
Directors or their associates had any interests or short positions
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or any of its
associated corporations as defined in the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

In order to attract and retain the best quality employees for the
development of the Group’s businesses and to provide additional
incentives or rewards to selected qualifying participants, the
Company adopted a share option scheme on 4 December 2017
(the "Scheme”). The qualifying participants mainly include
employees and directors of the Group and any substantial
shareholders, and the consultants or adviser, distributors,
contractors, suppliers, service providers, agent, customer and
business partner of the Group who have contribution to the Group.
The Scheme, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain
in force for 10 years since its establishing date. The remaining life
of the Scheme is approximately 5 years (expiry on 4 December
2027).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

As at 31 December 2022, options to subscribe for a total of
17,170,000 Shares were outstanding under the Scheme (the
“Options”).

1
i —E-CF
“ECCF £ £ £ £ t=A
—-A-H Ritiz Tz A k¥ =t+-H T%E
A BhRE BhE ERE BhRE A (M)
Options Options Options Options
Held at granted exercised cancelled lapsed Held at Exercise
1 January during during the during during 31 December price
2022 the year year the year the year 2022 (note)
B
HK$
A E&
Employees 8,170,000 - - - - 8,170,000 8
7,000,000 - - - - 7,000,000 6
B EZ
Directors
it 1,500,000 - - - - 1,500,000 8
Shum Sai Chit
BImX 250,000 - - - - 250,000 8
Kwong Ping Man
REA 250,000 - - - - 250,000 8
Cheung Sound Paon
BB 250,000 - - - (250,000] - 8
Kwan Ngai Kit*
10,420,000 - - - (250,0000 10,170,000 8
7,000,000 - - - - 7,000,000 b
17,420,000 - - - (250,0000 17,170,000 -

# retired on 27 June 2022
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the
senior management of the Group are set out on pages 40 to 42 of
the annual report.

DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in “Directors’ interests in securities”, at no
time during the year was the Company, or any of its holding
companies, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS" REMUNERATION

The directors’ fees are subject to shareholders” approval at
general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the
Company’s board of directors with reference to directors’ duties,
responsibilities and performance and the results of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the year ended 31 December 2022, a permitted indemnity
provision as defined in the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
was in force for an indemnity against liability incurred by the
Directors.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

No Directors nor a connected entity of Directors had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to the business of
the Group to which any of the Company’s holding companies,
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any listed securities of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2022.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31 December 2022, the register of substantial shareholders
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO shows
that other than the interests disclosed above in respect of certain
Directors, the following Shareholder had notified the Company of
relevant interests and short positions in the issued share capital

/ﬁt of the Company:
FrsEER HEBTRA
RN A RpEE 2B
Number of
ordinary % of issued
Name of Shareholder shares held share capital
Ming Xin Developments Limited(Fff3F1) (note 1) 237,435,871 (L) 60.10
New Bright Group Limited(Fffz£2) (note 2) 237,435,871 (L) 60.10
42 F5 SR B R PR 2 Rl (T RES) 237,435,871 (L) 60.10
Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited (note 3]
M= (i aEs) 237,435,871 (L 60.10
Chi Wen Fu (note 4]
Thoughtful Limited (Fff3£5) (note 5) 61,493,900 (L) 15.57
So Kit Yee Anita(F5E5) (note 5) 61,493,900 (L) 15.57
Chan King Wai Leonard(Fff#5) (note 5) 61,493,900 (L) 15.57
BT Notes:
(1) 237,435,871% AMing Xin Developments Limited & & (1) 237,435,871 shares are beneficially owned by Ming Xin Developments Limited.
A -
(2) Ming Xin Developments Limited &New Bright Group (2) Ming Xin Developments Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of New Bright Group
LimitedZ 2 &M B AR o Bt - shBH REAE KN Limited. As such, New Bright Group Limited is deemed to be interested in all the
S * New Bright Group Limited#1% A# B Ming shares in which Ming Xin Developments is interested by virtue of the SFO.
Xin Developments Limited A a2 2 &P 1) 2 1
5o
(3) New Bright Group Limited &ttt 4253 2 2 EHE R (3) New Bright Group Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Century Sunshine. As
Al MUl - MBS RBEGRAIM S - HEBLER such, Century Sunshine is deemed to be interested in all the shares in which Ming Xin
B A Ming Xin Developments Limited B #2527 & Developments is interested by virtue of the SFO.
EBALD < HEAR o
(4) WX E LA (Ming Xin Developments (4) Mr. Chi Wen Fu controls more than one-third or more of the voting power at
Limited 2 SRR ARDBREAE LG =52 — general meetings of Century Sunshine (the ultimate holding company of Ming Xin
A ERRKE - MUt MBS RARGKRAMS - B Developments Limited). As such, Mr. Chi Wen Fu is deemed to be interested in all the
X E S E AR B #E B Ming Xin Developments Limited shares in which Ming Xin Developments Limited is interested by virtue of the SFO.
BEER 2N 2 -
6] REARFEEFTREBAZENOZH  2AFRK (5)  According to the Scheme of Arrangement between the Company and its scheme

ZEZZF )\ AR A65843,900fC HITE B
w45 A E(BIThoughtful Limited) © BRZE X
THREREERHENHAEES © Thoughtful
Limited REFRERE—_Z-__FNFRAEZE+=
A=+—HHEMEE 74,350,000 A% -

creditors, the Company transferred 65,843,900 issued ordinary shares to the scheme
company (i.e. Thoughtful Limited) on 5 August 2022. Ms. So Kit Yee Anita and Mr. Chan
King Wai Leonard are the joint and several administrators of the scheme. Thoughtful
Limited has disposed 4,350,000 ordinary shares for the period from 5 August 2022 to
31 December 2022 pursuant to the terms of the Scheme.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the Company
had not been notified by any persons who had interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the SFO.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-
laws or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing Shareholders.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Other than those disclosed in Note 37 to the financial statements,
there was no connected transaction during the year and in prior
period.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules, as
at the latest practical date prior to the printing of this report.

AUDITORS

There has been no other change in the auditors of the Company
during the past three years. HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
will retire and the Company will propose a resolution at its
forthcoming AGM to reappoint HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited as auditors of the Company.

By order of the Board

Mr. Shum Sai Chit
Chairman

Hong Kong

24 March 2023
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BY ZRBERE
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

31/F, Gloucester Tower B8

The Landmark IR

11 Pedder Street EITHR
Central BEHES

Hong Kong HFERTITKREIE

To the Shareholders of
Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability]

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
(the "Company”] and its subsidiaries [(collectively referred to
as the "Group”) set out on pages 62 to 182, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
consolidated statement of other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants ["HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs"] issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditors’
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

Allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL") on trade receivables

Refer to Note 3 and Note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group
had trade receivables of approximately
HK$154,881,000. The allowance for ECL
were approximately HK$153,383,000.

Management applied judgement
in assessing the ECL Receivables
relating to customers with known
financial difficulties or significant
doubt on collection of receivables are
assessed individually for provision
for impairment allowance. ECL are
also estimated by recoverability of the
trade receivables and the sufficiency
of allowance for ECL based on
information including credit profile
of different customers, aging of the
trade receivables, historical settlement
records, subsequent settlement
status, expected timing and amount
of realisation of outstanding balances,
and on-going trading relationships
with the relevant customers.
Management also considered forward-
looking information that may impact
the customers’ ability to repay the
outstanding balances in order to
estimate the ECL.

We focused on this area due to the
allowance for ECL of trade receivables
under the ECL model involved the use
of significant management judgements
and estimates.

Our audit procedures in relation
to management's assessment on
allowance for ECL on trade receivables
included but not limited to:

o Obtaining an understanding and
evaluating the key controls that the
Group has implemented to manage
and monitor its credit risk;

o Tested on a sample basis, the
accuracy of ageing profile of trade
receivables by checking to the
underlying sales invoices;

o Tested on a sample basis, the
subsequent settlement of trade
receivables against bank receipts;
and

o Assessing the appropriateness of
the ECL provisioning methodology
of the Company, examining the
key data inputs on a sample basis
to assess their accuracy and
completeness, and challenging
the assumptions, including both
historical and forward-looking
information, used to determine the
ECL.

Based upon the above, we found that
the estimation and judgement made
by management in respect of the
allowance for ECL on trade receivables
were supportable by the available
evidence.
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Impairment assessment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets, intangible assets and mining rights (continued)

Impairment assessment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets, intangible assets and mining rights

FLMEAMBRRME A

HEEEMRENGE

Refer to Note 3 and Note 18 to the

Qur audit procedures in relation

BEMEIMA NG5 E

The Group is required to perform

IRBHEE18 TRERERAEELR consolidated financial statements. to management’'s impairment & MImEHRERS impairment assessment on property,
i assessment included but not limited to: éb?@ﬁ’ééﬁ@%@ﬁﬂﬁ% N plant and equipment, right-of-use

sl B EEEAEHY assets, intangible assets and mining

R-E-_—&E+-A=+ BB AEMNE As at 31 December 2022, the carrying *  Evaluating the independent valuer’s % e 1% ERER rights whenever events or changes

—H0x - BERR
B ERERE  EFA
ERFRENREES
#%51,337,361,000% 1 -
10,629,000 7T ~ 20,939,000
}’éﬁ&Aé 545,000 °

FRE #NREE
i

T E£BENHE
B BE - AERA
MEEER  BEE

amounts of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets,
intangible assets and mining rights
were approximately HK$1,337,341,000,
HK$40,629,000, HK$20,939,000
and HK$44,545,000 respectively.

competence, capabilities and
objectivity;

* Understanding the Group's
impairment testing process,
including the valuation model

E  BYAERRBEED
BEFE - SRENRE
ELBN(REELEN])
BEENDAERBERA
REGEREEERER
REE LHEAKRAR

in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of the assets may not
be recoverable in accordance with the
accounting policy stated in Note 3. The
recoverable amounts of the Group's
cash generating unit ("CGUs") was

PHEYE  BE KRR FEUSERERS Impairment losses of approximately adopted, CGUs allocation and FETEH  BEEIRER determined based on the higher of the

1% FREEE  BYEE B HK$58,631,000, HK$1,957,000, assumptions used; BE . ZHAME  BER asset’s fair value less costs to disposal
REBREZRESEY HK$942,000 and HK$nil had been nE . mEESE  BYE and its value-in-use using discounted
58,631,000/ 7T ~ 1,957,000 AHERREE KD recognised in respect of property, plant ¢ Evaluating the appropriateness of ERERENSEEA M cash flow projection. We focused on

BT 942,000 T RER
7TE o

THOBRERAR
K7
=3

BHEMBRE B
BENEHKTE A
ANTERTSEH
7 EHE?‘E”W\&

EHEREAE

and equipment, right-of-use assets,
intangible assets and mining rights
respectively.

the model used to calculate the
recoverable amount;

o Evaluating the reasonableness of
the budgeted revenue and gross
profit margin by considering
the historical performance,
approved financial budgets, the
management’s business plan, the
available industry and market data;

BEF GBS REAN
EREHE LG AR
RREOHBABRER
PimBERERAF NS
ERRFYAE - EKE
CE I b ER B
ReELBAREEE -

this area because the amounts of
property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets, intangible assets and
mining rights were significant and
the impairment assessment process
involved significant management's
judgements and estimates including
the selection of appropriate
comparables and assumptions such
as discount rate and future revenue
in the cash flow projection. The Group

BRERBEHEE ¢ Evaluating the historical accuracy engaged an external valuer to assist
EEREREE of the financial budgets prepared the assessment for the recoverable
EREMGRNBER by the management by comparing amount of the CGUs.

HRBEERE R

e SR MIEELR
THAALEE R
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the historical financial budgets with
the actual performance; and

* Engaging our valuation expert to
evaluate the appropriateness of the
discount rates and terminal growth
rates used.

We found that the management
judgement and assumptions were
supportable by the available evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditors” report
thereon ("Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the Other Information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information
and, in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other
Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with the HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirement of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and for such internal control as directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

AUDITORS" RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. We report
our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's
internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

R E BT AR AR 59
2022 BFERE



A

BYZHERE (E)
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

e HEERANKBLLZSTEAMES
REFLER  TREEDNNEZ
BE MESSFERSENLIBFR
BRNEATHEEME  KmAlgs
HY BEEBENREBELLERNESE
BEARRE - HEMARSTFEEAT
HEW  BAVEEZHBERET
REEAEIEFEAUFERRTH
HEARE - HEREETE  AlE
AEANER - HAINERIOIER
BEZEMBES AR LARENE
2R o AR - RREBHESIFRA

BN BEREEEFELE -

e HEHAMBHRIANEBEZ®RS
A EBRAT  BREBEEER
AREEMHHRRED T B RRIA
ARZREIR -

e T ERERNERARHABH
BEMERTED B ENEZRE
NEHGEMBHRRIERER -
ZMEEEEEZN IR  BEENM
}iﬁﬂf:f c KPR ERERAERRNE
T o

BHMREZZE S (AP B EXD
EIEE - KRAZBEEMNEAERLERE
B RERAARAMEETZBETH
RIEY R BRERIE R B AR -

ZRMTAMEZZESFELER - BHK
MENEBEBBEIIIENEREREN
VWERFEEEBAIEAERRSTERM
BYMOAERRLREMEER - UKD
HEREE MR ITE AP 615
HeE(AnEmA) -

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors” use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditors’ report is Kwok Tsz Chun.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Kwok Tsz Chun
Practising Certificate Number: P06901

Hong Kong, 24 March 2023
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REREREMEEBRARX
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HEZFT--F+ZA=+—HLFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

REBEERAMEZEHKBAR(E)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (CONTINUED)

HEZTZ-ZF+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

- =B === =B
2022 2021 2022 2021
By =E TERT FET s THET FET
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000 Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
WA Revenue 6 383,899 416,060 FEREX AR TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSES
HEXA Cost of sales (337,285) (347,285) FOR THE YEAR (159,189) (265,212)
EAM Gross profit 46,614 68,775 TIATEIEFEERF Profit/(loss) for the year
H W assk B8 - FRE Other gains or losses, net 6 7,575 14,712 (E518) : attributable to:
B EA YR Gain on debt restructuring 6 267,382 - RARBEEA A Owners of the Company (331,883)
HE kD IEZH Selling and distribution expenses (3,073) (4,381)
THEH Administrative expenses (126,222) (99.610) THATEEFERZE Total comprehensive expenses for
BHRBERR - ke & Net allowance for expected credit X AR - the year attributable to:
HuippE R IBEEZ S losses on trade receivables, KABEE A Owners of the Company (159,189) (265,212)
EiER AR deposits and other receivables (104,191) (53,243) -
ME - BB MR ETER Impairment loss recognised on (=51
2 BIEEE property, plant and equipment 18 (58,631) (175,657) (Restated)
ML AEEERERTNRBERE Impairment loss recognised on SREF(EE) Earnings/(loss) per share:
R Gl CIRTREEREE 18 (1,957) (5.182) - BEAR#E - basic and diluted 0.39541l (1.017%7T)
B EERE Im.palrmgnt loss recognised on 13 HK$0.39 cent (HK$1.01)
intangible assets 18 (942) (2,738)
B 75 & Finance costs 8 (20,923) (69,401) BEMT > HIE ARG A BTSSR 3R ~ 1Ak 2T The accompanying notes form an integral part of these
BEADEF (B518) PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 7 5,632 (326,725) e eep s e N E e
Fri§ % B Income tax expense 11 (4,228) (5,158)
FERN,(ER) Profit/(Loss) for the year 1,404 (331,883)
Hit2mE (), A OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (EXPENSE)/
INCOME
EHREN 7 HEBamA)  Other comprehensive [expense)/
A2 E () WA - income to be reclassified to profit or
loss in subsequent periods:
BMEBINEBCELZR Exchange differences on translation
of foreign operations (160,593) 66,671
FEHM2E L) WA+ Other comprehensive (expense)/
BRI income for the year, net of
income tax 66,671
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

HEZFT--F+ZA=+—HLFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

REMBAARRE(E)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
BE-_T--F+=-HA=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

—E_— —E - —F —E_— T —F
2022 2021 2022 2021
B &E FET FTET k4 FET FHET
Notes HK$°000 HK$°000 Notes HK$'000 HK$°000
FREBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
ME -~ BB MHRE Property, plant and equipment 14 1,337,361 1,626,848 EAE WA Deferred revenue 27 69,354 75,018
EREEE Right-of-use assets 15 40,629 47,994 f& Borrowings 25 205,512 -
BmEEE Intangible assets 16 20,939 25,406 AR E S Convertible bonds 28 320,048 -
TRuEE Mining rights 17 TARIAS 50,222 RIETHIERE Deferred tax liabilities 29 9,554 2,995
ERBEEMLRR Total non-current assets (WA A 1,750,470 ERBEREE Total non-current liabilities 604,468 78,013
MENEE CURRENT ASSETS EEFRE NET ASSETS 1,095,952 1,188,942
rE Inventories 19 192,274 215,410
FEWE 5 R R B R IR Trade and bills receivables 20 1,498 149,504 R EQUITY
JENZE - R R Prepayments, deposits and RABER ABIEER Equity attributable to owners of
H 4th e W kI8 other receivables 21 190,514 209,667 the Company
JE W 5 3K Tax recoverable 5,117 - BT Issued capital 30 3,950 658,439
BIEIRITER Pledged bank deposits 22 9,698 10,490 GG Reserves 32 1,092,002 530,503
Re kEeFEEAR Cash and cash equivalents 22 28,599 25,078
B TOTAL EQUITY 1,095,952 1,188,942
MEVEEERE Total current assets 427,700 610,149
REQREFIQAEZFEAUBHREN_-Z The consolidated financial statements on pages 62 to 182 were
RBEE CURRENT LIABILITIES TEF-AZTHBKEFEELLE approved and authorised for issued by the board of directors on
FEITE 5 R 5K Trade payables 23 17,449 13,364 RETIED - WHTINEEFREREE 24 March 2023 and are signed on its behalf by:
EmpE e L ESTE A Other payables and accruals 24 23,244 134,351
AHEE Contract liabilities 24 14,598 26,321
EEA Borrowings 25 114,592 876,043
FEAI TR Tax payable = 3,627
FEf — &I R FRIE Amount due to a shareholder 26 2,871 39,958
} T YRR i St T4 27 =
MENE BB Total current liabilities 172,754 1,093,664 Mr. Shum Sai Chit Ms. Chi Sile
RBEE (AR FHE NET CURRENT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) 254,946 (483,515) D,%:ir Dfir
AERBERLBAME TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BE BT 2 i 5t B AN AR & BT IS 3Rk 2 A A B The accompanying notes form an integral part of these
LIABILITIES 1,700,420 1,266,955 5 o consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HEZFT--F+ZA=+—HLFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

REEZEBR(A)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)

BE_TZ-HF+=-H=+—HILFJE For the year ended 31 December 2022

B E Notes:
EAEE Tk
BEf R fie  B3ER BRE  iERE  AHRE EXRE (i) HNERERLEGEAWBRARPOEEER (i) These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$1,092,002,000 (2021:
RE BEE  HAEB (KeE(i) B G (Wski) (WS Efbefs gE peRi # 1,092,002,0008 0 (=ZZ = —4 : 530,503,000/8 HK$530,503,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.
Capital ) e
Share redemption  Convertible Share  Statutory Merger Exchange . _ ) R
lssed premium Contributed reserve  bonds equity option reserve reserve Other fluctuaon  Retained (i) BABOEBIEADAREE REHEROBFERR (i) Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of the Shares of the
capital account surplus [note (i) reserve reserve  [notefiill  [notelivl]  reserve reserve  earnings Total AREAFIHHEOARRBIAEE - Company which was transferred from the Company’s retained earnings upon
Ten  TER TAR TR TER  TEL  TER  TER TR TAR AR TER repurchase and cancellation of Shares by the Company.
5B U OB 3 I U 00 L O S lil FEHRBEIEEMBARIERTREARKLMBE(F liii)  Statutory reserve mainly represents the fund set aside by the subsidiaries based on
R Asat 1 January 20 BB IS 19 W - BT TSS9 NSNS N A e 1459 gféfﬂ% ﬁ gg FBIRERIE10% R RE TR 2E 10% of their net profit of the People’s Republic of China [the “PRC") statutory financial
i J VE T2 Y ° statements and that for the purpose of certain safety production activities.
EEER Loss for the year - - - - - - - - - - (3188
ﬁﬁﬁ/@/ﬁml&)\ Other comprehensive RIBPEKIZHBARZEGERAAEMAEZ In accordance with the articles of association of the subsidiaries established in the
TkFER : income for the year, FRBUERIROE - ZEMBARZAR L 10% 2 1k PRC and the relevant PRC rules and regulations, these subsidiaries are required to
netofincome fax: Fi8 %18 e A (IR KA TE I IS R RC 8 ) set aside 10% of their profit after income tax as recorded in the PRC statutory financial
RERNERAEEL Exchange differences ERETEREE  BRIEZFRERDEWBRTEM statements as statutory reserve, except where the reserve fund balance has reached
EfZR arising from BAR50% - ZAEBETRAREENBRARBAFE 50% of the subsidiaries’ registered capital. The reserve fund can only be used to make
{ranslations of foreign ZEB BERWBARZEEXEBIIEMHE AR good the subsidiaries’ previous years’ losses, to expand the subsidiaries’ production
operations - - - - - - - 06,671 - 66,671 IR o operations or to increase the capital of the subsidiaries.
ERAEEEMA Totel comprefensie Eﬁi‘*‘ %%%EE%EE@@@&ﬁm*HE@% Pursuant to certain regulations issued by the State Administration of Work Safety of
% lexpenselfncore for 5 %Tﬁ?ﬁj%ﬂ'\]ﬁ?ﬁ% ;2&%%%&??%%%5 the PRC and other relevant regulatory bodies, the Group is required to set aside funds
theyear i} : : : i : N w2 %E{Sﬁﬂbﬁ?ﬁ%ﬁ)ﬁﬁﬁm%ﬁﬁ cREEEAHA mainly for mining of dolomite and serpentine at prescribed rates. These funds can
' ' ' REER/RRELRLZREE  TRARES be used for maintenance and/or improvements of safety of these activities, and is not
. ) K ° available for distribution to shareholders.
BRERE Share option lapsed - - - - (626) - - - - 68 .
REESRHNLS Equiy sefted share liv] AHREERREHIERERZEEBRAAME:T (i) Merger reserve was arising on the application of merger accounting method in relation
— based transactions - - 2232 - - - - - 2232 EEFEA o to the combination with entity under common control.
ERES Transfer to reserve - - - - 3047 - - - (3047) -
WoBZ-E As at 31 December 2021
TZA=1-BR and 1 January 022
“E-E-f-H 098439 156263 1976 49 - 3032 1188% (1,500,592 [44,209) (20931) 31986 1188942
ERE Profitfor the year - - - - - - - - - - 1404 1404
EREBAERM Other comprehensive
ARAER: expense for the
year, net of income tax:
BEBNEBAEEL Exchange differences
EXZE arising from
translations of
foreign operations s = - - = = - (160593 - (180593
FERAG)/ Total comprehensive
Lot lexpenselfincome
for the year - - - - - - - (180593 1606 (159,189)
A4 () Capital reorganisation
[note 30) [635,147) - 855,147 - - - - - - - - -
EIOREL lssue of shares, net of
PG GED) transaction cost
[note ¢) 658 8972 - - - - - - - 29,630
BrTaREs ) lssue of convertible bonds
[note ¢) - - - 42312 - - - - - 25
HETIRRESEE Deferred tax related
LERRE toissuance of
convertible bonds = = = [6.861) = = S = S = (6,861]
BRERE Share option lapsed 5 5 5 5 5 (594) = = = 5 5% 5
BRTHE Transfer to reserve - - - - - - 1292 S - (1.292) -
RESERANG 225 Equity seitled share
based transactions - - - - - 918 - - - 918
RISZZEHZA=T-R  Asat31December 2022 3950 1,591,606 677,123 419 35,651 30,646 120,188 (1,500,592) (64,209 (181,524) 362,694 1,095,952 ‘
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GRERERER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HEZFT--F+ZA=+—HLFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

A

RERETRER(E)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
HE-_Z--F+=-A=+—HLLFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

By =E
Notes
REEBRERE CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
BADE N, (B18) Profit/(loss) before tax
HE - Adjustments for:
MBER Finance costs 8
IR R 2 BIREE R Equity-settled share option
expenses 31
RITHEUA Bank interest income 6
HEYE - WEREMEIEE  Gain on disposal of items of
2 Was property, plant and equipment 6
B EA KR Gain on debt restructuring 6
WsH TR FRIE Written-off of prepayments
WEEME - BB KEE Written-off of property, plant and
equipment 7
HME - BERZHEERZ  Impairment loss recognised on
BEEE property, plant and equipment 18
FLE R B ERER Impairment loss recognised on
WEEE right-of-use assets 18
HEREERRAZMEBE  Impairment loss recognised on
intangible assets 18
ME - BERRBZITE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 14
CREEEZTE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 15
B EEZ#IH Amortisation of intangible assets 16
re hHEMEKFIAZ Allowance for/(reversal of
EEEEEE allowance) for expected credit
s/ (BERmE) loss on deposits and other
receivables 21
FEWE ZRHRTEEEEEIE  Allowance for expected credit loss
B on trade receivables 20
LBESEHA 2 Operating cash flows before changes
REFERE in working capital
FERD Decrease in inventories
FEW B 5 BR 7 I JE W R % Decrease/(increase) in trade and
A, (g ) bill receivables

BNFIE - e AR
HRIEOE ), HA

FERE ZERFIE M, ()

HAfEF0R - EETEA R
BRBECHD),

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables

Increase/[decrease] in trade payables

(Decreasel/increase in other payables,
accruals and contract liabilities

—— —

—_———

2022
TET
HK$'000

5,632
20,923

918
(600)

(2,280)
(267,382)
28,620
183
58,631
1,957
942
110,144

(WAL
1,448

18

104,173

64,766
5,502

37,152

(31,125)
5,266

(40,418)

2021
FTET

HK$°000

(326,725)
69,401

2,232
(551)

(5,052)
774
175,657
5,182
2,738
103,305

1,377
4,900

(65)

53,308

86,481
38,254

(25,699)

11,494
(23,643)

21,468
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2022 2021
gz TET FET
Notes HK$’000 HK$°000
REXBASZHE Cash generated from operations ARPA 108,355
EREERIE Income taxes paid (13,061) (1,656)
REXB2HERNFR Net cash flows generated from
operating activities 28,082 106,699
REERZ2EESRE CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES
AMEWA Interest received 600 551
HEME - BB KR iED Proceeds from disposal of property,
PR1SIE plant and equipment KWAIK] 6,931
BAME - BMELFZWBEE  Purchases of items of property, plant
and equipment (5,423) (113,305)
KREXB 2R ML FHE Net cash flows used in investing
activities (1,420) (105,823)
BMEXBCRERE CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
EAFIE Interest paid (429) (2,068)
BEEX Repayment of borrowings (34,621) (793)
AR R B, (RERER) Advance to/(repayment) from amount
due to a shareholder 13,072 (12,201)
MEXB 2R RLHHE Net cash flows used in financing
activities (21,978) (15,062)
ReERBEEEERZ NET INCREASE/(DECREASE] IN CASH
12, ORd) #E8 AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 4,684 (14,186)
FUzRERIREFEIEE  Cash and cash equivalents at
) B beginning of year 25,078 36,104
SNEEPE R BB R EE - R Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes, net (1,163) 3,160
FRZAERBELEMEER  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
END OF YEAR 28,599 25,078
ReERNESEMBEBEESHR DM ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Be MIR1THE RS Cash and bank balances 25,078
BE BT 2 i 5t B AN AR & BT S dh &k 2 A KB The accompanying notes form an integral part of these
7 e consolidated financial statements.
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Rare Earth Technology Group Holdings Limited (the
“Company”] is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda. The principal place of business of the Company is
located at 16th Floor, Tower 5, The Gateway, Harbour City,
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Group was involved in the manufacture
and sale of magnesium products.

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate holding
company of the Company is Ming Xin Developments Limited,
a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and the
ultimate holding company is Alpha Sino Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars ["HK$"), which is the same as the
functional currency of the Company. All values are rounded
to the nearest thousand (HK$'000) except when otherwise
indicated.

Discharge of winding-up petitions and appointment of provisional
liquidators

On 3 July 2020, the Company announced (i) Century Sunshine
Group Holding Limited ("CS”), the controlling shareholder of
the Company, defaulted in the redemption of its SGD101.75
million in principal amount of subordinated notes (the
“CS Payment Default”); (i) the Company had received on
30 June 2020 a demand from one of the bank creditors
for the repayment of borrowings of the Company or its
subsidiaries of approximately HK$22.87 million plus interest
accrued and believed it was likely to receive further calls
from its creditors; (iii) the CS Payment Default constituted
an event of default in respect of certain borrowings of the
Group, which became immediately payable on demand;
(iv] a winding-up petition has been filed on 3 July 2020 to
the Supreme Court of Bermuda on behalf of the Company
together with an application for the appointment of joint
provisional liquidators ("JPLs") on a “light touch” basis that
the board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) will
retain management of the Company while the JPLs will work
alongside the Company’'s management to, amongst other
things, monitor, supervise and oversee the implementation
of a group-wide holistic and coordinated restructuring of
its debts and liabilities (the “Proposed Restructuring Plan”)
including to maintain the listing of the Company on the Stock
Exchange of the Hong Kong Limited.
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

Discharge of winding-up petitions and appointment of provisional
liquidators (continued)

On 16 July 2020, an order was granted by the Supreme Court
of Bermuda for the appointment of Mr. Yen Ching Wai David
and Ms. So Kit Yee Anita of Ernst & Young Transactions
Limited, Mr. Roy Bailey of Ernst & Young, and Ms. Tammy
Karina Fu of EY Cayman Ltd as JPLs of the Company with
the power to act jointly and severally. On 7 August 2020, the
Bermuda Court accepted the resignation of Mr. Yen Ching
Wai David. The JPLs appointment order remains in force in
respect of Mr. Roy Bailey, Ms. Tammy Karina Fu and Ms. So
Kit Yee Anita as JPLs.

On 25 August 2020, the High Court of The Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region has granted the recognition order in
respect of the appointment and powers of the JPLs in Hong
Kong.
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

Discharge of winding-up petitions and appointment of provisional
liquidators (continued)

On 25 February 2021, the Company received a petition (the
“Petition”) filed by Al Global Investment SPC acting on
behalf of and for the account of Al Investment Fund S.P. (the
“Petitioner”) on 22 February 2021 against the Company in the
High Court of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
(the “Court”) for an order that the Company be wound up by
the Court. The Petition was filed against the Company for
its failure to repay the Petitioner an outstanding principal
of the Notes (as defined below) together with the unpaid
interest and default interest in an aggregate amount of
US$20,707,777.78, which was pursuant to a subscription
agreement of 7% unsubordinated and unsecured notes due
2020 in a principal amount of US$20,000,000 (the "Notes”)
entered into between the Petitioner as subscriber and the
Company as the issuer dated 7 August 2017. The hearing of
the Petition has been adjourned to be heard together with
sanction hearing for the creditors’” scheme and presently
fixed for 27 May 2022.

The Company proposed a scheme of arrangement to the
related scheme creditors ("the Creditors” Scheme”) on 18
January 2022 and the Creditors” Scheme was approved by
the requisite statutory majorities of the scheme creditors
on 1 March 2022 and was approved by the High Court of
Hong Kong on 27 May 2022. The Creditors” Scheme became
effective on 31 May 2022. Since then, the Company had made
the application to the Supreme Court of Bermuda for the
withdrawal of the Bermuda Petition and the discharge of the
appointment of joint provisional liquidators. On 8 October
2022, the Company has received the discharge order dated
15 August 2022 granted by the Bermuda Court.
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)
Discharge of winding-up petitions and appointment of provisional
liquidators (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows:

i/
itk
mehy
Place of
incorporation/
£ registration
Name and business
HERAZHRARAA RE
(k12
Xinjiang Tengxiang Magnesium The PRC
Products Company Limited
(*Xinjiang Tengxiang’)
ALFAZEBEER hE
BRAA

Baishan City Tianan Magnesium The PRC
Resources Company Limited

REBEHRERARLE Bk
China Rare Earth Magnesium Hong Kong
Technology Holdings Limited

BRFIHERRARRLR B
Hong Kong New Materials Industry ~ Hong Kong
Investments Limited

share/registered capital

8
BRTEER/ KRR
KAAREREZEDR il
Percentage of equity Proportion
of issued ordinary attributable to ofvoting ¥EXH
the Company power held  Principal activities
ER itk
Direct ndirect
ARE171,800,0007 - 100 0% HERHESE
BREER
RMB171,800,000 Manufacture and trading
of magnesium related
products
AR 280,332,000 - 100 0% HERHESE
BREER
RMB280,332,000 Manufacturing and trading
of magnesium
related products
- 100 100% RERR
Investment holdings
- 100 100% RERR

Investment holdings

ERFINEZRRYAEEH 2 NF
EXREREARFEIMERAEEE
EFEZERHEN 2ARBNEBR
Al BEERA  REEMBKE QR
ZHBHEHERBNITE

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current
year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA"] for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30
June 2021

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and
Equipment — Proceeds
before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to

HKFRSs 2018-2020

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years
and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective:

HKFRS 17 (including the Insurance Contracts'
October 2020 and
February 2022
Amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback®

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5

Amendments to HKAS 1

(20202
Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting
HKFRS Practice Policies'
Statement 2
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates'

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction®
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
[continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of all the new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements in
the foreseeable future.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Preparation

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs, issued by the HKICPA. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited ("Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance ("CO").

Historical cost basis

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis. Historical cost is generally based
on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for
assets.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Basis of Preparation (continued)
Historical cost basis (continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payments, leasing transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 16, and measurements that have some similarities to
fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value
in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment
of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

J Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2022

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities (including
structured entities) controlled by the Company and its
subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the
Company gains control until the date when the Company
ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income
of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to being their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [CONTlNUED]
E-T - F+ = A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity],
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the investee [i.e. existing rights that give the Group
the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a)] The contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee:

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
profit or loss to the extent of dividends received and
receivables. The Company's investments in subsidiaries are
stated at cost less any impairment.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets which
includes an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.
The acquired processes are considered substantive if they
are critical to the ability to continue producing outputs,
including an organised workforce with the necessary skills,
knowledge, or experience to perform the related processes
or they significantly contribute to the ability to continue
producing outputs and are considered unique or scarce or
cannot be replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay
in the ability to continue producing outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value,
except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS
12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits
respectively;

e liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment at the acquisition date (see the
accounting policy below);

e assets [or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are
measured in accordance with that standard; and
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations /continued)

J lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments (as
defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were
new leases at the acquisition date, except for leases
for which (a) the lease term ends within 12 months
of the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is
of low value. Right-of-use assets are recognised and
measured at the same amount as the relevant lease
liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable
terms of the lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if
any) over the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If, after
re- assessment, the net amount of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess
is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event
of liquidation are initially measured at the non-controlling
interests” proportionate share of the recognised amounts of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair value.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes a contingent consideration
arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured
at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of
the consideration transferred in a business combination.
Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration
that qualify as measurement period adjustments are
adjusted retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments
are adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the "measurement period” [which cannot
exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations (continued)

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration
that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments
depends on how the contingent consideration is classified.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a
liability is remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting
dates, with the corresponding gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the
date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts arising
from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date
that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income and measured under HKFRS 9 would be accounted
for on the same basis as would be required if the Group had
disposed directly of the previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts
for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those
provisional amounts are adjusted retrospectively during the
measurement period (see above), and additional assets or
liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained
about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition
date that, if known, would have affected the amounts
recognised at that date.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

e  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

e the Group's performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

e the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’'s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due] from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a contract
are accounted for an presented on a net basis.

Revenue from the processing and sales of magnesium
products is recognised at a point in time when control of the
products has transferred, being at the point the products are
delivered to the customer and the customer has accepted
the products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could
affect the customer’s acceptance of the products. Delivery
occurs when the products have been shipped to the specified
location, the risks of obsolescence and loss have been
transferred to the customer, and either the customer has
accepted the products in accordance with the sales contract,
the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the Group has
objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance have been
satisfied.

Revenue from these sales is recognised based on the price
specified in the contract, net of discounts, returns and value
added taxes.

A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered
and the customers accept the products, as this is the point
in time that the consideration is unconditional because only
the passage of time is required before the payment is due.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Government Grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants related to income that become
receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already
incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial
support to the Group with no future related costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable. Such grants are presented under “other
gains or losses, net”.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment, are tangible assets that are
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes (other than construction in
progress), are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Costs include any costs directly attributable to bringing the
asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management
and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Depreciation
of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their intended
use.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production or
for its own use purposes. Construction in progress is carried
at cost less any recognised impairment loss. Construction
in progress is classified to the appropriate category of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready
for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets
are ready for their intended use.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Property, Plant and Equipment and depreciation (continued)

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted
for as an operating lease is presented as “right-of-use
assets” in the consolidated statement of financial position.
When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably
between non-lease building element and undivided interest
in the underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are
classified as property, plant and equipment.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item] is included in profit or loss in
the period in which the item is derecognised.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Over the shorter of the
lease terms or 3%

Leasehold land and buildings

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 6% to 25%
Plant and machinery 10% to 25%
Motor vehicles 15% to 25%

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from
business combinations on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components, including contract for acquisition
of ownership interests of a property which includes both
leasehold land and non-lease building components, unless
such allocation cannot be made reliably.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-
lease components from lease component, and instead
account for the lease component and any associated non-
lease components as a single lease component.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee [continued)

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of machinery and equipment that have
a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the
recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or
another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

e an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are
incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the
end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful life. Straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES /continued)
Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee [continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise:

J fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable

e variable lease payments that depend on an index or
rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the
commencement date;

e the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees;

e the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

J payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets]
whenever:

e the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

e the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review/expected
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which the
Group applied the practical expedient, the Group accounts
for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

e the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

e the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price for
the increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments
to that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances
of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at
the effective date of the modification.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued)

Lease modifications (continued)]

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components.

Changes in the basis for determining the future lease payments as a result of
interest rate benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the future lease
payments as a result of interest rate benchmark reform, the
Group applies the practical expedient to remeasure the lease
liabilities by discounting the revised lease payments using
the unchanged discount rate and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets. A lease
modification is required by interest rate benchmark reform
if, and only if, both of these conditions are met:

e  the modification is necessary as a direct consequence
of interest rate benchmark reform; and

e the new basis for determining the lease payments is
economically equivalent to the previous basis (i.e. the
basis immediately preceding the modification).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases [continued)
Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct
consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has
elected to apply the practical expedient not to assess
whether the change is a lease modification if all of the
following conditions are met:

e the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the
same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease
immediately preceding the change;

e any reduction in lease payments affects only payments
originally due on or before 30 June 2022; and

e there is no substantive change to other terms and
conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for
changes in lease payments resulting from rent concessions
the same way it would account for the changes applying
HKFRS 16 if the changes are not a lease modification.
Forgiveness or waiver of lease payments are accounted for
as variable lease payments. The related lease liabilities are
adjusted to reflect the amounts forgiven or waived with a
corresponding adjustment recognised in the profit or loss in
the period in which the event occurs.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Intangible Assets
Intangible Assets Acquired in a Business Combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is
regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with
finite useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is
provided on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Intangible Assets (continued)
Patent

Expenditure on acquired patent is capitalised and amortised
using the straight-line method over its estimated useful life
of 9 to 16 years, from the date when the patent is available
for use.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
mining right and intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets, intangible assets with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that these assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss (if any). Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested
for impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an
indication that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash generating units for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit or group of cash-generating units to which the
corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying
amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
mining right and intangible assets other than goodwill (continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
to disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit] for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating
unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of
cash- generating units, including the carrying amounts of
the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated
to that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group
of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset
is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs
to disposal (if measurable), its value in use [(if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
mining right and intangible assets other than goodwill (continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a
group of cash-generating units) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a
group of cash- generating units) in prior years. A reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Mining Rights

Mining rights, including transferred exploration and
evaluation assets, are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses. The mining rights
are amortised on the production quantities over the total
estimated mineral reserve. Mining rights are written off to
the profit or loss if the mining property is abandoned.

Foreign Currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in the functional currency [i.e. the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates)
at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the
transactions.

At the end of each reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are not retranslated.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign Currencies (continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value, are included in profit or
loss for the period.

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. HK$) at the rates of exchange prevailing at
the end of the reporting period. Income and expenses are
translated at the average exchange rates for the year, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period,
in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates
of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if
any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity (i.e. the translation reserve] (attributed
to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of
the Group’'s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of joint
control over jointly controlled entity that includes a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of significant influence
over an associate that includes a foreign operation), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Retirement Benefit Costs

Pension Schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the "MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all of its employees. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund. The Group's
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The Group also operates a defined contribution staff
retirement scheme registered under the Occupational
Retirement Schemes Ordinance (the "ORS0 Scheme”) for
its employees (including certain directors), the assets of
which are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the eligible employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the ORSO Scheme.
When an employee leaves the ORSO Scheme prior to his/
her interest in the Group's employer contributions vesting
fully, the ongoing contributions payable by the Group may be
reduced by the relevant amount of forfeited contributions.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Retirement Benefit Costs (continued)

Pension Schemes (continued)]

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate
in Mainland China are required to participate in a
central pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute
a certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or
loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the central pension scheme.

Payments to defined contribution retirement plans are
charged as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments transactions
Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into
consideration all non-market vesting conditions is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the
Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually
vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share option
reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-
market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the
original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment to the share option
reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
share premium. When the share options are forfeited after
the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date,
the amount previously recognised in share option reserve
will be transferred to retained profits.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash
equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short-
term cash commitments rather than for investment or
other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash
equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’'s cash management. Such
overdrafts are presented as short-term borrowings in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because it excludes items of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years,
and it further excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [CONTlNUED]
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the financial statements and the corresponding tax base
used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised
for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will
be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which liability
is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period. The measurement of deferred
tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that
would follow from the manner in which the Group expects,
at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2022

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Taxation (continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities separately. Temporary differences on initial
recognition of the relevant right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised due to application of the initial
recognition exemption. Temporary differences arising from
subsequent revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement
of lease liabilities and lease modifications, that are not
subject to initial recognition exemption are recognised on
the date of remeasurement or modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income
taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority. Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. In the case of work in progress and finished goods,
comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of overheads. Cost is calculated using the
weighted average method. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers which are initially measured
in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments [including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)]

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income ("FVTOCI"):

the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial asset
the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither
held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by
an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument. In addition, the Group
may irrevocably designate a financial asset that are
required to be measured at the amortised cost or
FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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ZZE - F+ZA=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)]

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

(i)

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the
next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated
as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)]

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit loss ("ECL") on financial assets which are subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL
is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit
risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL ("12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 [continued)]

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

e  an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

e  existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)]

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 [continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk [continued)

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

e an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 [continued)]

(i)

Definition of default

(iii)

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full [without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a
more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) & breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s]) that the lender(s]) would not
otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
or

(e} the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)]

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 [continued)

(iv] Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

(v] Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted
by forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL
reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 [continued)]

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception for trade receivables, deposits
and other receivables where the corresponding adjustment
is recognised through a loss allowance account.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control
the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained
interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts
it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset
and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the
proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES /continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Repurchase of the Company’'s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method or at
FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade payables, other payables
and accruals, lease liabilities, borrowings and amount due
to a shareholder.

Convertible note

The component parts of the convertible note are classified
separately as financial liability and equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.
A conversion option that will be settled by the exchange of
a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed
number of the Company’s own equity instruments is an
equity instrument.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued)]

Convertible note (continued)

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component
Is estimated by measuring the fair value of similar liability
that does not have an associated equity component.

A conversion option classified as equity is determined by
deducting the amount of the liability component from the
fair value of the compound instrument as a whole. This
Is recognised and included in equity, net of income tax
effects, and is not subsequently remeasured. In addition, the
conversion option classified as equity will remain in equity
until the conversion option is exercised, in which case, the
balance recognised in equity will be transferred to share
premium. Where the conversion option remains unexercised
at the maturity date of the convertible note, the balance
recognised in equity will be transferred to accumulated
losses. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss upon
conversion or expiration of the conversion option.

Transaction costs relating to the issuance of the convertible
note are allocated to the liability and equity components
in proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds.
Transaction cost relating to the equity component are
charged directly to equity. Transaction costs relating to the
liability component are included in the carrying amount of
the liability portion and amortised over the period of the
convertible notes using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related Parties Transactions
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(1) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i]  has control or joint control over the Group;
li)  has significant influence over the Group; or

[iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group.

or

(2) The party is an entity where any of the following
condition applies:

(i} the entity and the Group are members of the same
group.

[i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity).

[iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party.

(iv] one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

[v] the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group. If the Group is itself
such a plan, the sponsoring employers of the
post- employment benefit plan.

[vi] the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (1).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related Parties Transactions (continued)
(2)  (continued)

(vi) a person identified in (1](i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity
and include:

(a) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;
(b) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner;

and

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction
when there is a transfer of resources or obligations between
related parties.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Segment Reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements, are
identified from the financial information provided regularly
to the Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments
have similar economic characteristics and are similar in
respect of the nature of products and services, the nature
of production processes, the type or class of customers,
the methods used to distribute the products or provide the
services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may
be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies which
are described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.
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CRITICALACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

(a)  Estimated Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment, Right-of-use
assets, Intangible assets and Mining Rights

The Group evaluates whether property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets
with finite useful lives and mining rights have suffered
any impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of
the assets may not be recoverable, in accordance with
the accounting policy stated in Note 3. The recoverable
amounts of the Group’s CGUs represent the higher
of the asset’s fair value less costs to disposal or
its value- in-use. The calculations of fair value less
costs to disposal or value-in-use require the use of
estimates and assumptions. Changing the assumptions
and estimates, including the discount rates or the
future revenue in the cash flow projections, could
materially affect the recoverable amounts. As at 31
December 2022, the carrying amounts of property,
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible
assets and mining rights subject to impairment
assessment were approximately HK$1,337,361,000
(2021: HK$1,626,848,000), HK40,629,000 (2021:
HK$47,994,000), HK$20,939,000 (2021: HK$25,406,000)
and HK$46,545,000 (2021: HK$50,022,000) respectively
after taking into account the impairment losses of
approximately HK$58,631,000 (2021: HK$175,657,000,
HK$1,957,000 (2021: HK$5,182,000), HK$942,000 (2021:
HK$2,738,000) and HK$nil (2027: HK$nil) in respect
of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
intangible assets and mining rights that have been
recognised respectively.
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CRITICALACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty /(continued)

(a)

(b)

Estimated Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment, Right-of-use
Assets, Intangible Assets and Mining Rights /(continued)

Details of the impairment assessment of property,
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible
assets and mining rights are disclosed in note 18.

Estimated Useful Lives of Right-of-use Assets, Property, Plant and
Equipment, Intangible Assets and Mining Rights

The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives and related depreciation/amortisation
charges for its right-of-use assets, property, plant
and equipment, intangible assets and mining rights.
This estimate is based on the historical experience
of the actual useful lives of right-of-use assets,
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets of
similar nature and functions and the mineral reserve
determined by independent technical adviser. It could
change significantly as a result of technical innovations
and competitor actions in response to market
conditions. Management will increase the depreciation/
amortisation charge where useful lives are less than
previously estimated lives, or it will write-off or write-
down technically obsolete or nonstrategic assets that
have been abandoned or sold.

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
the Group did not change the estimated useful lives of
right- of-use assets, property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets and mining rights.
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CRITICALACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty /continued)

(c)

Provision for Expected Credit Losses on Trade Receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs
for trade receivables. The provision rates are based
on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments that have similar loss patterns [i. e., by
geography, product type, customer type and rating, and
coverage by letters of credit and other forms of credit
insurance).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. The Group will
calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss
experience with forward-looking information. For
instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross
domestic products) are expected to deteriorate over
the next year which can lead to an increased number
of defaults in the manufacturing sector, the historical
default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date,
the historical observed default rates are updated
and changes in the forward- looking estimates are
analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs
is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may
also not be representative of customer’s actual default
in the future. The information about the ECLs on the
Group's trade receivables is disclosed in notes 20 and
40 to the financial statements.

E¥BoEER
MEEZLEBEBAREANTZHMUEE
BAORERDBRI|FHER  HE
FRATRMKIREE Rk REE
B AKEREBE_T-_—_FKk=
E-_—F+-_A=1+—BIEEEX
ENEE—DIHER - TERER
HESBEEBER - E—TEE
BHaEmEEERERERS TN
FELBRKEER - At - A&
E I BB AT RS D ER e

ih & & R
(a) ZREIIREFEZWA
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
BE_TZ-HF+=-H=+—HILFJE For the year ended 31 December 2022

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported internally to the chief operating
decision makers for the purpose of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance focuses on types
of goods or services delivered or provided. The Group
is principally engaged in one single segment, which is
manufacturing and selling magnesium related products
during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021. A single
management team reports to the chief operating decision
makers who comprehensively manages such entire business
segment. Accordingly, the Group does not have separately
reportable segments.

Geographical information

(a)  Revenue from external customers

B (FERIN

=g B —4F
2022 2021
FiEx FiER
HK$'000 HK$'000
Mainland China
(other than Hong Kong) 416,060

FRBABRREFPAELE
5l o

b) FERBEE

The revenue information above is based on the
locations of the customers.

(b)  Non-current assets

Bl (F BRI

— = —E-—fF
2022 2021
FET FET
HK$'000 HK$’000
Mainland China
(other than Hong Kong) 1,750,470

LR RBEEBRIZEERM
EHEZ27 -

The non-current assets information above is based on
the locations of the assets.
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¥XoEER®
FEEFEHR
RAEEME—RPZIHEEAE
E10%IA 2 AT :

ZE - F+ZA=1+—HI5Z For the year ended 31 December 2022

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Information about major customers

Sales to a single customer contributed 10% or more of the
Group's revenue during the year is as bellows:

ZEA Customer A

— =2 — T —F
2022 2021
FET FHET
HK$°000 HK$’000

87,256 74,249

B EXPRREES  BEEMERS
HAREEFABBATR10% A
J: o

WA - Bt S sEE - F
HNREHRELAWSE

WA~ Btk EE - FROMN
Ll

Except disclosed above, no other customers contributed 10%
or more to the Group's total revenue for the year.

REVENUE, OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES, NET AND GAIN ON DEBT
RESTRUCTURING

An analysis of revenue and other gains or losses, net is as
follows:

—_E_—5F
2021
TET
HK$°000
RE-—EHER Revenue from contract with
REEFEHNZRA customer recognised at a point in time
HEETBHEEER Sale of magnesium related products 383,899 416,060
HibUg s ok E5 18 5 58 Other gains or losses, net
RITHBHA Bank interest income 600 557
SHERER Sales of scrap materials 1,871 2,052
HEWE - WEREE WS Gain on disposal of property, plant
and equipment 2,280 5,052
HEWA Rental income 4,010 7,578
HAt Others (1,186) (521)
7,575 14,712

FTERAEGHFEAR—FHUAT
MBE B BEREERFISHNER
EEAHA  WERBESIEERE
TEHONR ZEE -
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All revenue contracts are for one year or less. As permitted
by practical expedient under HKFRS 13, the transaction price
allocated to unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

WA - Bt S EE - B
BEREBEARZ®

EREA W=

REBMBEEAGEI(ERAGE
BER-_E-_—_F=A—HETHE
BAGTE SR T ESETHENS
HETEIEE AL A - BEHEAGTEITR
EF_$::¢£H ++HESR
oS ARESHE - 1B - B
AEER—_E-_—FRA=+—
BHAR -

RZE-_—_F+A=-+EHAB - 2
EREABBFEEIGEREAKRRE
@% EXRRASERRIZUTAR
Sh

RIEBEERAFHREREE(EEE
AN - BERAMEEANTE
RREEZSHEERE  MEEHHE
HEMB -_E-_—FAA=1+—
AREFERAFHR - EREREA
FEIM—Er c ARFERZZEZ
ZHF+ AE1765,843, 900 @R
TEtEIBG ] HERADFBER
BT #920%) + & 29,630,0007%
TTERERHR A F B K&K R
BB R IMT ) A M ET B E I A B
TUHREREEBAGEARE - &
REIBRWOA EBAHGTE R EFEMR
BEEEAMERAZMN K

BIEBEARBRESFERBIEE([EE
BB RIEN  ARREBEITAR
{E#7/4352,175,000/ 7T HY Al 2 AR &
% o BETNETIERRE KA B
&S - BIEH A8 £ B K
FHAF -
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REVENUE, OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES, NET AND GAIN ON DEBT
RESTRUCTING (continued)

Gain on debt restructuring

The Group's creditors’ scheme (“Creditors” Scheme”) was
approved by the requisite statutory majorities of the scheme
creditors at the meeting of Creditors” Schemes held on 1
March 2022. The Creditors’ Scheme was also sanctioned by
the High Court of Hong Kong on 27 May 2022. Since then, the
Creditors” Scheme became effective on 31 May 2022.

As at 25 July 2022, the scheme administrators have received
the preference indication forms from all scheme creditors
and the admitted claims have been allocated in the following
manner:

Under the terms of the 5 years term extension option ["Option
A"), full repayment of admitted claims will be made to the
Option A creditors and the repayment date will be extended
for a period of five years beginning from the effective date on
31 May 2022. As part of the Creditors’ Scheme, the Company
issued 65,843,900 new ordinary shares ["Scheme Shares”)
of which HK$29,630,000 being approximately 20% of the
currently issued shares of the Company in July 2022 for the
term extension interest and term extension potential extra
payment, will be issued to the scheme administrator to be
held on behalf of the Option A Creditors. The term extension
interest will be paid to each Option A Creditor by the Scheme
Company on an annual basis or;.

Under the terms of convertible bonds swap option ("Option
BJ, the Company issued convertible bonds in the fair value
of approximately HK$352,175,000. The latter offers the
conversion of admitted claims into convertible Bonds with a
maturity date of the fifth anniversary of the scheme effective
date.
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WA - Htt W Z s EsE - F
EREBSEA RS @

B EA WS

RIBEEAE  BE(BEFEA
BERA® & FEETFIE)49847,781,000
BTCEBRBRISEEERAFH
REEELITBRRESFERRE
oAl BHE-_TE-__F+_A
—t+—HALtFEERESEALAWE
#49267,382,000/ 7T ©

— S HIBRAMAARERAC
T _FRAAZBNR-_TE-__F+
BZ+/HHAE -

ZE - F+ZA=1+—HI5Z For the year ended 31 December 2022

6. REVENUE, OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES, NET AND GAIN ON DEBT

RESTRUCTING (continued)
Gain on debt restructuring [continued)

Pursuant to the Creditors” Scheme, the liabilities, including
the principals and accrued interests of the scheme debts,
amounted to approximately HK$847,781,000 have been
discharged and allocated into a 5-year term extension option
or a convertible bonds swap option. Accordingly, a gain on
debt restructuring of approximately HK$267,382,000 has
been recognized for the year ended 31 December 2022.

For more details, please refer to the announcements of the

Company dated 3 May 2022 and 26 July 2022.

BATER(E1R)
AL E Y BAE R (BR)EM

nE

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX

B R R M ()
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
ZZ-_—F+=A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

The Group's profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after

FHET
HK$'000
ERBEEATTEEEN Asset transfered pursuant to the
BE Creditors’ Scheme:
A% Scheme Shares (29,630)
2IRBEEAGTE Liabilities assumed pursuant to the
AENEE: Creditors’ Scheme:
AR ES - BEEH (FiTEE28) Convertible bonds — Liability components
(Note 28) (309,663)
AR ES - #amEl o (i EE28) Convertible bonds — Equity components (Note 28] (42,512)
&R (B 5E25) Borrowings (Note 25) (198,594)
(550,769)
ERBEEREAGE Liabilities discharged pursuant to the
i 3E S ON=Ri= g Creditors’ Scheme:
A R /T8 & e 5T B A (P 5k 24) Other payables and accrued expenses (Note 24) 77,203
JE A~ — 2 B SR A (B 5 26) Amount due to a shareholder (Note 24) 50,159
B R (F1aE25) Borrowings (Note 25) 720,419
847,781
B EAN R Gain on debt restructuring 267,382

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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BRGEA) ToIEE - charging/(crediting):
=S —E——F
2022 2021
FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
HEFERAY Cost of inventories sold* 252,536 306,086
ME - BEMREIITE Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment* 110,144 103,305
ME - WE RREmE Written-off of property, plant
and equipment* 183 774
NS E 2 B E A Equity-settled share option expenses 918 2,232
EREEERE" Depreciation of right-of-use assets* 1,439 1,377
HEYE - WEREE WS Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment (2,280) (5,052)
ME - BB MREBHERZ Impairment loss recognised on property,
BIEREE plant and equipment 58,631 175,657
EREEERRRERE Impairment loss recognised on
right-of-use assets 1,957 5,182
BICEERRZBEEE Impairment loss recognised on
intangible assets 942 2,738
WsETE T FRIE Written-off of prepayment 28,620 -
ﬁﬁxﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁ* Amortisation of intangible assets* 1,448 4,900
ZERTI & Auditors’ remuneration*
— AT IR - Audit Service 1,000 1,000
— IEBEET RIS - Non-audit Service = -
B BRI Employee benefit expense
(BREZEZHH) (including directors’ remuneration)
Iﬁ %ﬁi&ﬁ%?ﬁﬂ Wages and salaries and benefits in kind 43,915
RIRET B Pension scheme contributions 610
44,525
PEH =% - JFEar Foreign exchange differences, net* 910
H b fE W RIB 2 Allowance for/(reversal of]
TRHEEERE expected credit loss
B, (M) on other receivables (65)
FEWE 5 ARk TEHA Allowance for expected credit loss
EEEERE on trade receivables 53,308
L AAGABRREMEERARZIHERK i Included in “Cost of sales” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
N other comprehensive income
* AAGERRREMRERARZIITERX e Included in “Administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or

ll

loss and other comprehensive income
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HEZZZ_F+-HA=+—HBILFE For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZTZ-ZF+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2022
8. MBEEH 8. FINANCE COSTS 9. EEMEw 9. DIRECTORS” REMUNERATION (continued)
) E=EFHME (a) Directors’ Emoluments (continued)
BE-_ZTE-_—F+-HA=+— The emoluments of each director for the year ended 31
HIEFEEEF 2HMET I December 2021 are set below:
T
HK$’000
ARAFRNEHEEZIRTTR  Interest on bank and other borrowings EEH
HEERF A wholly repayable within five years it
EREAGTEIT 1ﬁmﬂ’]§5¢‘ﬂ Effective interest expenses on we e BRE s e
Fx borrowings under the Creditors’ Pension
Scheme Share scheme
BHEAGTEI T A ESAE  Effective interest expenses on Fees Salaries options  contribution Total
R 2B S convertible bonds under the TEn TEn FEn FER FET
Creditor's Scheme HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
WiTES Executive directors
gL Shum Sai Chit - 250 315 8 573
, R Chi Jing Chao!” = - 18 - 18
9. EBHE 9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION ottt chiSick - i i _ .
) E=HM (a)  Directors” Emoluments ¥uTES Non-executive director
BHE_T__F+_A=+— The emoluments of each director for the year ended 31 hfEo Meng Jian® 50 - 2 - 76
g & 2 7 .
_?ITJJ.:EFL EE2HME a0 December 2022 are set below: By RS et
: non-executive directors
M B Kwong Ping Man 30 - 52 . 8
i) & REX Cheung Sound Poon 30 - 52 . 8
ik e B I REN ; BRG Kwan Ngai Kit 30 - 52 - 82
Pension
Share scheme 390 250 515 8 1,163
Fees Salaries options contribution Total
TET TET TER TER FET il R-ZZE-—FN\A—BHE n resigned on 1 August 2021
HK$ 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 @ R —FNA—BHEZE @ appointed on 1 August 2021
HiTES Executive directors O ROBo—EXNA=THRE @ retired on 30 June 2021
iR Shum Sai Chit
AR Chi Sile HE_ZE-_—_FRrR-ZT-—% During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
BUEHITES Independent +=—HA=+—H JJ:'}-FT rE no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the
noi:l-executivedirectors B EmAEBEEAEEN directors of the Group as an inducement to join or upon
Em Kwong Ping Man E@@ﬂ@ ’ DXEJ%{?,HJJW\$$ joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office.
RER Cheung Sound Poon =l %ju)\z}&% B - S ERBER
BB Kwan Ngai Kit" g o
N Lin Pengxuan®
RARFEREA > WEREBERFIZE There was no arrangement under which a director
MM EXEERETAMMNE 2 waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the
ZH(CEZ—F |- year (2021: nil.
m RoE——&EXA-++HEE m retired on 27 June 2022
2 R-E-——EAA-+HREEE a appointed on 20 September 2022
126 Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited MR R BT AR A R 127
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10. REFMAL 10.

AEEFAFHESNAEEER
EME(CE_—F:  mB)EF -
HEF M B8R EXEET - Rk
=H (T —F ZR)FHRS
BE(UFARFEFTHTIETHA
B)MFERFMFBDOT

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the
year included two (2021: two) directors, details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 9 above. Details of the
remuneration for the year of the remaining three (2021:
three) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor
chief executive of the Company are as follows:

—_E=E_— —E_—F

2022 2021

FERT FHET

HK$°000 HK$°000

e RMAREYHE Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 1,289
BREER Share option expenses 52
IRRETEIH R Pension scheme contributions 35
1,376

FHNFUTHRENFHERSHE
BQUIFARRBESR) ABIT

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the
directors of the Company whose remuneration fell within the
following bands is as follows:

—_E=E_— g5

2022 2021

FHT FET

HK$°000 HK$'000

£ 21,000,000 &7T Nil to HK$1,000,000 3

2 Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The amount of income tax expense charged/(credited)
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income represents:

—E-
2022

T
HK$'000

BNEATLIA
- RIS
TR (3£ 29)

Current tax:
— PRC Enterprises Income Tax
Deferred taxation (Note 29)

2021
TiERT
HK$000

5,238
(80)

5,158

EARBANERN,(BE) L IAKRA
ARERSHMBARMERR,
AARBAERERAE ZRAX
HEAERBRGFE ZHEI LY
B U REABRE (ALAEN R) &
BRI R ZEFRNT

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit/
(loss) before tax at the statutory rates for the countries/
jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority of its
subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the effective
tax rates, and a reconciliation of the applicable rates (i.e. the
statutory tax rates] to the effective tax rates, are as follows:

=S =T —4F

2022 2021

FET FET

HK$°000 HK$’000

HADER, (B1R) Profit/(loss) before tax 5,632 (326,725)

BAEAFEMRERAE ZHIE Tax at the statutory tax rates 823 (76,994)

BEANT 2 A Income not subject to tax (44,217) (161)

PRI 2 X H Expenses not deductible for tax 41,430 79,518

AR HIBGE Tax losses not recognised 6,192 2,795
BRAEBEERMEAE Tax charge at the

Z I Group's effective rate 4,228 5,158

MR EEERER AR 129
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11.

12.

130

EBBAZ @

(a) BEBREH
R-ZE—-—NEF=F=-+—H "
EAULERBE T —LERH
BIEBIE R (ER]) (B75%) ([
BR]) ZBERSIAFESHN
WHl o ZEERR T )\E=
AZ+ N \BEEBKEE TR
ZHEAE - - REFNESHEMK
Fl AEREBEEENE2ES
T HE A% 8.25% = -
HBiE2E BB TR EHAIER
16 5% - TFHFEFERH
LHOEBREBANBEBEER
16 5% B 7E F R BF -

AEBESRSE MRS F
BURRERERMS MO EER
MM BEREAMEBIE
K BAEMNEGHIMEFEAN

- -ARESBTEELER
Fad wEE-_T-_—_F+
—A=+—BULFEHAXH
FEHEB(CTE—F : 8) -

b)) FETEFREH
PR EMER RN R EE
EE__HFRER-E-_—F+
—A=t+—BLFEZFEE
RFRF 2 25%ETE ©

R E
EEETEEZMBEE2 T - —FK
—E_—F+ZA=F+—HILFE
IR HERIAZ B o

11.

12.
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

(a)  Hong Kong Profits Tax

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment]) (No. 7)
Bill 2017 (the "Bill") which introduces the two-tiered
profits tax rate regime. The Bill was signed into law on
28 March 2018 and was gazette on the following day.
Under the two-tiered profits tax rate regime, the first
HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity will
be taxed at 8.25%, and profits tax above HK$2 million
will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not
qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime
will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The directors of the Group considered the amount
involved upon implementation of the two-tiered profit
tax rates require as insignificant to the consolidated
financial statement. Hong Kong Profits tax is
calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit
for both years. No tax is payable for the year ended
31 December 2022 (2021: nil) since there was no
assessable profit generated in Hong Kong.

(b)  PRC Enterprise Income Tax

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax is calculated at 25% on
the estimated assessable profits arising in the PRC for
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

DIVIDEND

The board of directors do not recommend the payment of
any dividend for the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021,

13.

AREEERELEESRE
A, (E18)
AL A GEE AR TRER
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e
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13. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE T0 OWNERS
OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per
share attributable to owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

—E-C —E-—F
2022 2021
FExT TR
HK$’000 HK$'000
AEERERREE Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to
&R, (EH8)Fr A& owners of the Company for the
RARERARIEFA purpose of basic and diluted earnings/
m A, R (loss) per share
(331,883)

AAEEREANEE
A, (B18) P A &Y hn

BE+-RA=1+—-HLFE

Year ended 31 December

—EFE-—F
2021
(RRE )
(Restated)
Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purpose of basic and
diluted earnings/(loss) per share
356,098,245 329,219,502

FRNEBITINEFHEBREE A
356,098, 245(—F——4F : 2 &Y A
329,219,502) + B 1E M #8%8 LA S BBt
0T ERRGD AR E - It
BHFNEERMDEHER LEF
EERNBRRMIELTE -

The weighted average number of ordinary shares of
356,098,245 (2021: Restated as 329,219,502) in issue during
the year, as adjusted to reflect the effect of the share
consolidation as disclosed in note 30. Comparative figures
have also been adjusted on the assumption that the share
consolidation had been effective in the prior year.
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1. ARREEREEEREA
A, (B8)

@5:2::$+:HE+—E
FTFEEBTMEEHEBR
U H 356,098, 245<_7:—$

329,21 9,502)E’Ju+::73/£zzuT :

13. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS
OF THE COMPANY /continued)

The calculation of the weighted average number of ordinary
shares amounting to 356,098,245 (2021: 329,219,502 in issue
for the year ended 31 December 2022 is as follows:

R—A—BERTRMHEAE
HxT’V\TﬁEI’JE“
TRt T &

Number of issued shares on 1 January

Effect of the share consolidation

Effect brought by the issue of new
scheme shares

BE+T-A=+—HLEE

Year ended 31 December

—E-—fF
2021
(&L&E75)
(Restated)

(7PN 6,584,390,058
CWITR VORI (6,255,170,556)

26,878,743 -

356,098,245

329,219,502

SAEAEM S - AR ARIE R ARTT
@Eﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁwwuﬁﬁi‘éif’%@LﬁH
B UEEARAAEARLEH
AR P EEE) BAR RN &
B - ARBEHIE Xl ER
Ry 2 B RRERAT AR AT 1T
MR B8R B #ETTLLER o

HRBRETEESREZE_S=
—kZE—F+ZA=+—HIE
FEMBRGFHTE  HFESR
%Bﬁrl/(gﬂa)ﬁwlﬁ{ﬁj“?ﬂ%
AN B R EEARAE -

HE-_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—HIt
FE FEERESRIBTER
REEBARNRABRERES  RA
ARBRRERSERTRABFIE N

For the share options, a calculation is done to determine the
number of shares that could have been acquired at fair value
(determined as the average market price of the Company’s
shares during the period) based on the monetary value of the
subscription rights attached to outstanding share options.
The number of shares calculated as above is compared with
the number of shares that would have been issued assuming
the exercise of the share options.

The computation of diluted earnings/(loss) per share does
not assume the exercise of the Company’s share options
because the exercise price of those share options was
higher than the average market price of shares for the year
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the computation of
diluted earning per share does not assume the conversion
of the Company’s convertible bonds since their assumed
exercise would result in an increase in earning per share.
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

W
AELH £ER BER
i 2 REIE &t HE
Leasehold Furniture,
landand  Construction fixtures and Plant and Motor
buildings in progress equipment machinery vehicles
Thr Thn THR TEn Thr
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ﬁm& Cost:

NZFZ-F-A-H Asat 1 January 2021 506,400 443541 6,713 1,051,564 3,73 2,011,99%
WE Additions - 205,854 36 1804 - 207,694
&z Transfer 579,111 (639,617) - 60,506 = =
e Disposal - - - (6,864) - (6,864)
ik Written-off (1,293) - - - = (1,293)
i 5 Z5 Exchange realignment 22374 7895 02 32212 112 62,795

R-E-—EF-B=1t—H  Asat3! December 2021 and

“E--%-F-H 1 January 2022 1106,592 17473 6,972 1,139,242 3,847 2,274,326
ME Addition - 11,337 12 1413 183 12,945
&z Transfer - (53) - 53 - -

iH & Disposal - - = (2,656) - (2656)
s Written-off = = - (1,124) (615) (1,739)
EX 3| Exchange realignment (83 554) (1,702 (527) (85942) (278) (172,001)

RZEZZF+-A=1—H  Asat3! December 2022 1023,038 27255 6,457 1,050,986 3139 2,110,875
ZHRERAE Accumulated depreciation

and impairment:

R_E--F-f-H Asat 1 January 2021 (77.027) - (5,009) (277819) (2,097) (361952

REEHRIE Depreciation provided during

the year (25,79) - (277) (76,496) (734) (103,305
WE Impairment (98,307) (1,722 (149) (75,387) 92) (175,657)
& Disposal - - - 4,985 - 4,985
s Written-off 519 S s s s 519
B3 E5 Exchange realignment 2611) - (154) (9,231) 72 (12,068)

RZZEZ—F+ZF=1t-H  Asat3! December 2021 and
k=F-ZF-A-H 1 January 2022 (203,.204) (1,722) (5,589) 1433949) (2,995) (847 478)
AERGHRNE Deprecation provided during

the year (40,707) - (941) (68,068) (428) (110,144]
HE Impairment (34,086) (2,350) - (22,193 - (58,631)
e Disposal - - - 1533 - 1533
s Written-off - - - 975 581 1,556
L] Exchange realignment 9,389 - 42 29,604 215 39,650

RZEZZF+-A=1—H  Asat3! December 2022 (268,628 (6,072) (6,088) (£92,099) (2627) (773 514)
E-Eﬁﬁ Carrying amount:

RZBZZE+ZR= As at 31 December 2022 754,410 23,183 369 h58,887 512 1337361 ‘
m T-F+Zf=1- As at 31 December 2021 903,368 15,951 1383 705,294 852 1,626,848
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14 Y% BERRE=

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT /continued)

Bt Note:
(i) AEBHEE L REFRBERRZER (i) The carrying amount of the Group’s leasehold land and buildings reporting
BEANAT : periods are analysed as follows:
—F=-= —EZ—F
2022 2021
FHET FHERT
HK$'000 HK$’000
A B At 2 R BRI A0 Medium term leases in Mainland China 754,410 903,368

(ii) RZZ-——F+=-A=+—H0 A%£EEA
TR{E#47270,790,000/8 T2 1EF - HE M #sE
(ZZT=—4 : 331,490,000/ 7T) B H K3 A
EEAEBEAER 2 RITEEEPHE25)

WME - BB LEERENAFE
BN A MG RAR MR8

15 FHAEEE

(ii) As at 31 December 2022, buildings, plant and machinery of the Group with a
net carrying amount of approximately HK$270,790,000 (2021: HK$331,490,000}
were pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the Group [note 25).

Details of the impairment testing on property, plant and
equipment are disclosed in note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

—EgE-— —E-—F
2022 2021
FTET TR
HK$'000 HK$'000

R—H—A As at 1 January 47,994 52,981
RNEEHETE Depreciation provided during the year (1,439) (1,377)
B E 1B Impairment loss (1,957) (5,182)
b 5. & 51 Exchange realignment (3,969) 1,572

R+—A=+—8H

As at 31 December 40,629 47,994

EREEERTMERE BN
BEMAET M (EBMRPE) N
I B E HABR AR & BRI B AR o

R—F-_—_F+=-_HA=+—8" ﬁ
FAREEEXLD 629,000 T (Z =
—4F : 47,994,0005 7T) T E R A
HEIRRITRE R (HIFE25) ©

EREEE RERNAFBRN
BB HRRMIFEIS

134 Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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The right-of-use assets represent the land use rights,
comprising cost of acquiring rights to use certain land,
which are principally located in the PRC, for operating
purposes over fixed periods.

As at 31 December 2022, right-of-use assets of
approximately HK$40,629,000 (2021: HK$47,994,000) have
been pledged to secure bank borrowings (note 25).

Details of the impairment testing on right-of-use assets are
disclosed in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

BVEE

B RS SRR M EE ()
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HEZZZ_F+-H=+—HILEJE For the year ended 31 December 2022

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

=
Patent
TERT
HK$’000
BN Cost:
RZEZ—F—H—H As at 1 January 2021 53,293
ME H &5 Exchange realignment 1,598
R—_EBE-——F+=-—A=+—8K As at 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022
—E-_—_%—HF—H 54,891
& 5,875 Exchange alignment (4,144)
R-ZZF-__%+-A=+—H As at 31 December 2022 50,747
EFTEERREE Accumulated amortisation and impairment:
R-ZE-—F—H—H As at 1 January 2021 21,152
RNEZHH Amortisation for the year 4,900
BIEE R Impairment loss 2,738
ME 5, & 51 Exchange alignment 695
RZE_—F+_A=+—8K As at 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022
—E__F—H—H 29,485
N5 Amortisation for the year 1,448
BEEE Impairment loss 942
ME H, &5 Exchange alignment (2,067)
RZBZZHF+ZA=+—H As at 31 December 2022 29,808
EE@E Carrying amount:
R-ZBZZHF+=ZA=+—H As at 31 December 2022 20,939
RZEZ—F+ZH=1+—H As at 31 December 2021 25,406

BRVEAEZRENAFBTHINGES

FATE SRR RE8

Details of the impairment testing on intangible assets are
disclosed in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.
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17. BRIERE

17. MINING RIGHTS 18. W¥ - BERRZRE EHE 18. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON PROPERTY, PLANT AND

TiBxT
HK$'000

B Cost:
W_E_—F—H—H As at 1 January 2021 58,600
b 5. & 51 Exchange realignment 1,757
R_ZBE_—F+_-_A=+—H As at 31 December 2021 and

;r—ZF-—F#—H—H 1 January 2022 60,357
bE BB Exchange realignment (4,557)
R=-ZB-_ZH+Z-A=+—H As at 31 December 2022 55,800
Rt - Accumulated amortisation:
W_ZE_—F—H—H As at 1 January 2021 9,840
NEE#H Amortisation for the year -
[ H &5 Exchange realignment 295
—E-—F+-A=+—Bk As at 31 December 2021 and

—FTZ-F—H—H 1 January 2022 10,135
NEEEH Amortisation for the year -
b 5, & 51 Exchange realignment (880
R-ZB-ZH+ZA=+—H As at 31 December 2022 9,255
IREE - Carrying amount:
R=-Z2-_Z_H+-A=+—H As at 31 December 2022 46,545
RZEZ—F+_A=+—H As at 31 December 2021 50,222

mEHOURPEEREAUTNA
ERBEHRIERE  UEORENE
BT LAB

AREBIR D A BRI &R 5%
BEMNAKECHE - HEEENK
EEY EEB LR A A ER SRR
H R Y B 2 RE - I ERERRL(E

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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The balance represents mining rights of the dolomite mine
located in Baishan City of Jilin Province, the PRC, which is
amortised by the production quantity over the ore reserve.

The Group estimates on the recoverable amounts of the
mining rights based the fair value less costs to disposal.
The carrying amount of the relevant assets does not exceed
the recoverable amount based on fair value less costs to
disposal and no impairment has been recognised.

EE BREERRERZ
VRN S
BE_ZT-_—_F+-_H=+—H
EFE  AEBNEBKRBATE
WEAEBE HTHRHEEEES
RRS - ERNEEREBNIRCE
FEN(REELEEMN DAL EEXR
WAWE  AEEERERAT
EREDSR  UHEBEINNE
1,337,361,0008 (=2 = —F :
1,626,848,000/8 L) * 40,629,000
BIL(ZZT = —4F 1 47,994,0008
JC) 20,939,000 (== —F :
25,406,000/ 70) K 46,545,000 7T
ZET - —4 : 50,222,000 7T) 89
¥ BELRZE THEEE &
FEERFKEREITRERE

WEZBEBETEEMBMNEEE
Bz REERE - AIAEES
Bz ReELEEN 2T KE €
B ORRERAIBYABER —HEE
BORCEEE -ReEEBENUMD
BERMEAA,441,500,0008
T(ZFE=—4% :1,750,470,000/%&
JT) °

ReELESEMMAI WD B IIIRE
FHEEFEEE R_T—_—
+=ZA=+—8  ZFEFERER
NEEE IR EHEERRE R IRSFH
PHRBEENRSRETER - HAD
FRABRIR R B14.461% (B —45F
14.71%) ° BBBSF(ZE=_—F : 5
F)RACIEERENER 2% (=
—F Q%) IEREME - HENITE
HEEFEA B TEBEBEITENER
B RE - FHEETENS
—BXrEBRIXAFEERA - EFX
MEBSH  NBREREEESEMN
HBTRELREEBHMEEREN
TRHAE T -

EQUIPMENT, RIGHT-0F-USE ASSETS, INTANGIBLE ASSETS
AND MINING RIGHTS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group's
business was underperformed and incurred losses
due to the constraints to working capital. In view of the
economic performance of the cash generating unit ("CGU")
of magnesium product business which was worse than
expected, management of the Group concluded there was
an indication for impairment and conducted impairment
assessment on property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets, intangible assets and mining rights with
carrying amounts of approximately HK$1,337,361,000 (2021:
HK$1,626,848,000), HK$40,629,000 (2021: HK$47,994,000],
HK$20,939,000 (2021: HK$25,406,000) and HK$46,545,000
(2021: HK$50,222,000), respectively.

The Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU, to
which the asset belongs when it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount individually, including allocation of
corporate assets when reasonable and consistent basis can
be established. The carrying amounts of assets of CGU was
approximately HK$1,441,500,000 (2021: HK$1,750,470,000).

The recoverable amount of CGU has been determined based
on a value in use calculation. That calculation uses cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by the
management of the Group covering the following 5 years
with a pre-tax discount rate is 14.41% (2021: 14.71%) as
at 31 December 2022. The cash flows beyond the five-year
(2021: five-year) period are extrapolated using 2% (2021: 2%)
growth rate, which is based on the industry growth forecasts
and does not exceed the long-term average growth rate for
the relevant industry. Another key assumption for the value
in use calculated is the budgeted revenue, gross margin
and operating expenses which are determined based on the
cash-generating unit’'s past performance and management
expectations for the market development.

R E BT AR AR 137
2022 BFERE



B %5 3 % Bt = (4R
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BE

18.

19.

138

ZE - F+ZA=1+—HI5Z For the year ended 31 December 2022

Wi - BER R - EFAB 18, IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EE BREEREEEZ EQUIPMENT, RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS, INTANGIBLE ASSETS
NoRER: N ) AND MINING RIGHTS /continued)
BEREFGEER  NEEEIRE Based on the result of the impairment assessment,
ETReELABUNAKOEREE management of the Group determined that the recoverable
REEHEE - BESRESEZEER amount of the CGU is lower than the carrying amount. The
BERAEAFHNZEYE BE impairment amount has been allocated to each category
wE ERAREERBIZEE of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
NEREREENRAENSREE and intangible assets with finite useful lives such that the
ZEEREAABREEXNAZ &S carrying amount of each category of asset is not reduced
B -HEAEBERE REEAHAE below the highest of its fair value less cost to disposal, its
BEERSE  EEYE  BEX value in use and zero. Based on the value in use calculation
wE - ERAEEE - Eﬁ?éﬁ%&% and the allocation, impairment loss of approximately
TRIENWHEBNEARLZTE HK$58,631,000 (2021: HK$175,657,000), HK$1,957,000
= 7 Bl HE 3R /JWEJ%TEZ’]% 631,000 (2021: HK$5,182,000), HK$942,000 (2021: HK$2,738,000)
BIL(ZZEZ—F 1 175,657, 0005% and HK$nil (2021: HK$nil) has been recognised against the
7T) ~ 1,957,000 (ZF = — % : carrying amount of property, plant and equipment, right-of-
5,182,000 7T) * 942,000 L (=ZF use assets, intangible assets and mining rights respectively
——% : 2,738,000/ ) REAT(Z within the relevant functions to which these assets relate.
To—ETHT) -
KEENREETERD  RAR The carrying amount of mining rights has not been reduced
ARBEREEXR A RREE © &K since the fair value less cost to disposal is higher than the
BEDREBEAEZEAMNME RS TE carrying amount. The mining rights were measured at fair
OHERE_BRAAEFE - value based on Level 2 hierarchy based on the market price
of dolomite and the remaining ore reserve.
FE 19. INVENTORIES
—E-—F
2021
FET
HK$’000
R £ Raw materials 108,967 101,454
FE&m Work in progress = —
R Finished goods 83,307 113,956
192,274 215,410

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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B R R M ()
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HE-ZT-—F+-F=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

2. EWE ZRX 20. TRADE RECEIVABLES

—ET_— —EB -4
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$’000
JEUE 5 BRE (M FE () Trade receivables (note (i)) 154,881 206,406
TR EEEIa G Allowance for expected credit loss (153,383) (56,902)
1,498 149,504

PEE - Note:

(i) AEBBEAEZFZESEBEURETE (i)
7 RIFEH—RTEBISOR - BEEFE
BREHREEE o AEBTE KBRS RE
NEKRFRL SR ERBEERE - RE
BEEHERASER o ER XA -
ZAREEZRBBSRRS KRS DR
P BUEBEANEEETRER - AEEL
EREEREZRIEHRFTEEANERD
HEMEERRE - BRE SRR

balances. Trade receivables are interest-free.

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit. The
credit period is generally not over 180 days. Each customer has a maximum
credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables and to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed
reqularly by senior management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact
that the Group’s trade receivables related to a large number of diversified
customers, there is no significant concentration of credit risk. The Group does
not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade receivable

B o
N—_EZ-Z—9F—H—H &g As at 1 January 2021, trade receivables from contracts with
EFEHNNEWRESRRAOR customers amounted to approximately HK$165,186,000.
165,186,000 7T °

E’\$ FHRREZH S DR
BEER R AREEBERE)
ZERIE AT RFIR -

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of
allowance for expected credit loss, is as follows:

—E——

2022

TiExT
HK$°000

ERNCIIFN Within 60 days
61E290K 61 to 90 days
91E180K 91 to 180 days

T
HK$’000
2,692

20,448
126,364

149,504

BT EERRERAT
ge 139

2022 BFEHRE



Bt 75 R 2 B = (48D
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HEZZT-—F+=-A=+—HILFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

20.

140

FEWE SRR @)

BUE S ERBREEEREFZ
ZEMT

TRADE RECEIVABLES [continued]

The movements in the allowance for expected credit loss of
trade receivables are as follows:

—E—— —E-—F

2022 2021

FET FHET

HK$°000 HK$°000

F ¥ At the beginning of year 56,902 3,490
TEHEEEE FRERE Allowance for expected credit loss, net 104,173 53,308
M 5 =58 Exchange difference (7,692) 104

RER At the end of year 153,383 56,902

B E 5 iR

REBRBREEITANEEE SRR
FENEERBREMIDT

Bt 5 ¥R R B AE (AR
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BE_TZ-HF+=-H=+—HILFJE For the year ended 31 December 2022

TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a provision
matrix:

REREDPRABBEEETR
BERHT Ut EEEEEE - &
HERDBERRABEUSEER (BNZ
WwIEEE -  ERER -  REEAK
R UARERFSEMAEAMNE
AR RREE)MZEARTE DY
MENABEETRETE - ZTE
RS ARNELER  EERER
RE BB SERBAESEH - B
AT AR 5 BT8R AR 2R 48 B AR R Y & 18
EHEER - BHEEBHETEFE
B HIEELO o

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on internal credit ratings
for groupings of various customer segments with similar
loss patterns (i.e., by geographical region, product type,
customer type and rating, and coverage by letters of credit
or other forms of credit insurance). The calculation reflects
the probability weighted outcome, the time value of money
and reasonable and supportable information that is available
at the reporting date about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions. Details of
assessment of expected credit loss was detailed in Note 40.

RZZFE-—_F+=-HA=+—H 31 December 2022
Current (not past due)
Less than 1 year past due 153,358 153,358

BN GRILER)
DR

TRHIESIER REARE BERE
Gross

Expected carrying Loss

loss rate amount allowance

THET FHExT

HK$'000 HK$'000

1,523 25

154,881 153,383

TRHERER REAE EIRRE

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$°000
RZZE-—F+=A=+—H 31 December 2021
ENER (R HA) Current (not past due) 3.68% 155,221 5,717
BER D INF Less than 1 year past due 100% 51,185 51,185
206,406 56,902

FEWE ZEREFURETHNFBEHN
BEF40 o

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivbles are
set out in Note 40.
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21.

142

ANFRE ZERAEMER

IR

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

—=——

—_—_——

2022

TET
HK$'000

B~ 2E (M EE() Prepayments (note (i)) 186,726
we Deposits 253
o e W skE (M i) Other receivables (note (ii)) 3,677

BHMEEERRR

Allowance for expected credit loss

190,656
(142)

190,514

—_EFE_—5F
2021
FET
HK$'000
202,185
397

7,217

209,799
(132)

209,667

BB EBHYNE BHREES
BREEEBEKKIAG R -

it

(i) WZZ-——F+=-A=+—8 EfzEE:
EREFEEZEMNRIEL 182,782,000/ T
(ZZT=—% : 191,248,000 7T) °

i) HEEEsRTEefn N hERE a0 HE(E
492,223,000 (=T =—4 : 2,390,000

None of the deposits is either past due or impaired. The
allowance for expected credit loss was related to other
receivables.

notes:
(i) As at 31 December 2022, prepayments mainly comprise of prepayment of

inventory of approximately HK$182,782,000 (2021: HK$191,248,000).

(i) Other receivable mainly comprise of value-added tax recoverable in the PRC of
approximately HK$2,223,000 (2021: HK$2,390,000).

BT ©
BRehEMERREBEZRPEES The movements in the allowance for expected credit loss of
BREZEHNT - deposits and other receivables are as follows:
—E-— —E-—F
2022 2021
FHET FET
HK$°000 HK$°000
F ¥ At the beginning of year 191
TBHAEEEBEE (BB D) Alowance/(reversal of allowance) for
expected credit loss (65)
M =58 Exchange difference 6
RER At the end of year 132

e R E A REWRIEREF G
EE N AN

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2022

Details of impairment assessment of deposits and other
receivables are set out in note 40.

2. REeRBEESEEAREIE

Bt 5 ¥R R B AE (AR

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BE_TZ-HF+=-H=+—HILFJE For the year ended 31 December 2022

22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED BANK

HRTERK DEPOSITS
== B
2022 2021
FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
Re RIRTTEEER Cash and bank balances 28,599 25,078
EHEFRITER Pledged bank deposits 9,698 10,490
38,297 35,568

B B ERER(PFEE25)  Less: Pledged deposits for

borrowings (note 25] (9,698) (10,490)
RekHeFEER Cash and cash equivalents 28,599 25,078

EEFRITER Pledged bank deposits:
mENERD Current portion 9,698 10,490
FERBNEB D Non-current portion = -
9,698 10,490

RB|EHR  AEBAARKEE
ZRE MR EEREE AN ER
RITF XA 438,037,000 L (=F
T :32,479,00087T) - AR¥E
TEEMEBEMER - Al - R
B BOMEEIRIRDI R AEE - BIE
RNEEERE  AEBEESB
EREA L EE LEBORTHA

RITEE DRBJITEARITERX
M 2 F B EERERA S o BF AR
SENKREHFR  BHTHEFER
ZHRAS=MEA YLEE 2R
E B TF BN K ERERA B o SRITHE
REREREFRRERIFERRR
BT B R A SRAC SRR ERTT o

R-ZTFE-_—_F+=-_A=+—H8"'B2
AR ITFETNA9,698,0008 L (= F
——% : 10,490,000 T) B BB T
IR1T - LAEBERRE25) -

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash
equivalents and pledged bank deposits of the Group
denominated in RMB amounted to approximately
HK$38,037,000 (2021: HK$32,479,000). RMB is not freely
convertible into other currencies. However, under Mainland
China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are
made for three months depending on the immediate
cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the
respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances
and pledged deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks
with no recent history of default.

As at 31 December 2022, pledged bank deposit of
approximately HK$9,698,000 (2021: HK$10,490,000 ) was
pledged to bank for secured of borrowings [Note 25).
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24.
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FE{Y & 5 BR X

RS HRIZHR A B D0 EN
B SRR ZIRE DTN TR -

ZE - F+ZA=1+—HI5Z For the year ended 31 December 2022

23. TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the

reporting period, based on the invoice dates, is as follows:

—E-—F
2021
FHET
HK$’000
DR60K Within 60 days 1,557
61290K 61 to 90 days 769
FBBI0K Over 90 days 11,038
13,364

BNESERTFHNE - &EHE The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are

B ATHBIBI80K ©

normally settled within 180-day terms.

HENSFERETERAR 24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS AND CONTRACT
EHNEE

LIABILITIES

fEETE A

GiEAD)

H b A 3R (BT EG))

Accruals (note (i)

Other payables (note (ii))

BMAE

Sl

(Bt 2 (i) B (iv)

Contract liabilities (notes (i) and (iv))

FET
HK$'000

5,666
128,685

134,351

26,327

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2022

HiERREREFBERAR
EHEBE®

EEtERAREMENRERRE R
IRIMBESKIEIE -

GEE

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

v

R-ZE-—F+-_A=+—8  EifExx
EAETHSREBIEHAA3,118,000/8 T
(ZT=—% 3,777,000 7T) RETEES
FB#491,749,000 7T (=T = —4 : 1,889,000
ABIT) ©

R-ZE-_—F+-_A=+—8 " HiEN
FBEERENFIEAS474,0008 T (ZF
Z—4F : 82,847,000/ ) REMER TR
RGN EEEH6,756,0008 T (T - —4 :
25,829,000/ 7T) °

BEEAFER-E-—FRA-+—B4AX
f& - SFAIA77,203,0007 7T A K (E IR B A
ERREMENRACRBEERAIES
BERRR o

CEHHEEEEQNEREIIANR  AEE
WEREFTHONENEE - PEEZFHE
MR GBERITSHEXIRERRENE
& o REEERNEHBBERBROKELD
426,321,000/ (=T = —4 : 13,993,000
B o AEBERAEMNRBETENLTBIE
BRABMERS - BB EF R FIERIEIE
FTEAMASERHREME - RESHE
WIERSERMENTEMAL -

BHRRBEZEHWT ¢

i EEE )
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
BE-_T--F+=-A=+—HIEFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)

Accruals and other payables are interest-free and repayable
on demand.

note:

(i) As at 31 December 2022, the accrual expenses mainly represent accrual salary
and staff benefit of approximately HK$3,118,000 (2021: HK$3,777,000) and
accrued professional fee of approximately HK$1,749,000 (2021: HK$1,889,000).

(i) As at 31 December 2022, the other payable was mainly represents interest
payable of approximately HK$8,474,000 (2021: HK$82,847,000) and outstanding
amount payable for construction-in-progress of approximately HK$6,756,000
(2021: HK$25,829,000).

(iii) Upon the Creditors” Scheme becoming effective on 31 May 2022, the
outstanding accruals and other payable in the amount of approximately
HK$77,203,000 was fully discharged pursuant to the Creditors’ Scheme.

(iv) The Group receives certain portion of contract amounts when signing the
contracts with customers on sale of magnesium products. The transaction
price allocated to these sales is recognised as a contract liability at the time
of initial sales transaction. Revenue recognised in the current year that was
included in the contract liability balance was approximately HK$26,321,000
(2021: HK$13,993,000). The Group considers the advance payments schemes
does not contain significant financing component and accordingly the amount
of consideration is not adjusted for the effects of the time value of money taking
into consideration that the payment terms were not structured primarily for the
provision of finance to the Group.

v) The movements of contract liabilities are as follows:

R—RA—BZz#&4%
B AN R R B0 R A B AR 2 e

FRKBRSEH ZANAEEM

EHE7

—E2_— —EBE_—F

2022 2021

TR FTERT

HK$'000 HK$’000

Balance at 1 January 26,321 13,993

Revenue recognised from performance obligations

satisfied during the year (26,321) (13,993)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of receiving

deposits during the year 16,586 25,902

Exchange realignment (1,988) 419

RT=RA=+—HZ#&&H

Balance at 31 December 14,598 26,321
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CEN 25. BORROWINGS
—E—— —E-—F
2022 2021
FHET FHET
HK$000 HK$’000
IRITIBE Bank borrowings 72,173 137,080
e EENCEET) Other borrowings (note [ii)) 247,931 738,963
320,104 876,043
&k Borrowings:
—F R IRERKEH Due within one year or on demand 114,592 876,043
MEFLA B HEE Due within a period of more than two years
T EFEHRR S but not exceeding five years 205,512 -
320,104 876,043
B SESERB B AR Less: Amounts shown under non-current
liabilities (205,512) -
TWERBIBESRE Amounts shown under current liabilities 114,592 876,043
B AR EFEL K Less: The carrying amount of bank and
ERERLHEMBARE other borrowings that are
SKIEERIRTT R E M 1E repayable on demand due to
FEREMRBEET loan defaults or breach of loan
5 7R) (B EEiv) covenants (shown under current
liabilities) [note iv) (114,592) (839,815)
MR —FREMNFTIRERK Amounts shown under current liabilities
FEt 2 8R1T I E A & 3K for the bank and other borrowings
JIEREBIBEZEH that are repayable within one year or on
demand 36,228
&k Borrowings:
B A FEE) Secured (note i) 186,784 256,654
gl Unsecured 133,320 619,389
320,104 876,043

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2022

B R R M ()
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
BE_ZTZF+=-H=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

25. fER e

AEBERZEBFER(IEERE
HFR)EBEWDT -

25. BORROWINGS (continued)

as follows:

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal
to contracted interest rates) on the Group’s borrowings are

Year ended
31 December
2022

FET
HK$'000

BB = Effective interest rate:
.Eﬂjﬂ /TA Fixed-rate borrowings 8.47%
TR B Variable-rate borrowings 4.25%-5.48%

— = —

—_—

Bz
B

+t=A=1t—-H
ILFE

Year ended

31 December

2021

TiERT
HK$°000

4% to 18%
4.25% to 5.48%

ERA T I EEEHE -

Borrowings were denominated in the following currencies:

— = ——

2022
TiBT
HK$°000

AR RMB
BT HK$
eV Us$

2021
T
HK$'000
114,295

563,785
197,963

876,043
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H b .
CENC

FEE

(i) B K 49186,784,0008 (=T = —
£ ¢ 256,654,0007 7T) Bt 42 15 o & BEAR
BRARR—RARMEABER - WHUE
LY - B kiR #E#1270,790,0008 7T &
A EX16,0050008T(ZE-—4 :
¥ - BB KRR AE%9331,490,00078 7T & AE
HEBEE#I47,994,00058 70) {EHEIR ©

i)  HtEReECQEERESBRAR(EERESHBA
A ERA42,4190008T(ZE-—% :
42,359,000 7T) : (b)BERAGTEETARK
205,512,076%7‘3(:2:—& AT °

RZTFZZFRA=+—8 " xSEHA
720,419,000 TR R EREBERERIBER

ANEHEIERRRR o RIRERAGE - Z1EH
RENPEALERAFHREEE(ZRIEE
Al ¢ R(b) AT AR & 5 BB 124 (26
FE28) c BEBRANEBRAEARSLT%  ZF
BEMNVISEREEA198,594,0008 T K
—ECFFT At AWNCHEEEEA
205,521,07687T °

i) MR-B-—F+-F=+—8 " RIEZE
Hi SR MEER RN AT 21% (=T =
—F : 8.12%) °

livi AEBETREEREEENEERHTER
HREGEE RE-_—_F+-_A=+—
B EEAER114592,0008 (=T =-—
£F : 839,815,000 7T) B9 fE FRIE KRB R E
REZRE - WR_F_—F+_A=+—
=] E"JZ H]fﬁ%ﬁﬁ/ﬂﬁ‘?ﬂ* /ngEE ° $
%@EEE%E%ﬁLAEAﬁiﬁ,ﬁXH%?xﬁ
A& - PL\HH%#E?%%EEIE@ Lt gk
EEN DN R
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BORROWINGS /continued)

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Secured borrowings of approximately HK$186,784,000 (2021: HK$256,654,000)
were guaranteed by Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited and a
fellow subsidiary, and secured by pledged property, plant and equipment
of approximately HK$270,790,000 and right-of-use assets of approximately
HK$16,005,000 (2021: property, plant and equipment of approximately
HK$331,490,000 and right-of-use assets of approximately HK$47,994,000).

Other borrowings included (a) an International Finance Corporation ("IFC”) loan
of approximately HK$42,419,000 (2021: HK$42,359,000); (b) liabilities under the
Creditors” Scheme of HK$205,512,076 (2021: HK$nil).

As of 31 May 2022, the outstanding borrowing in the principal amount of
approximately HK$720,419,000 was discharged pursuant to the Creditors’
Scheme. Pursuant to the Creditors’ Scheme, the admitted claims had
been allocated into (a) a 5-year term extension option ("Option A”) and (b) a
convertible bonds swap option [please refer to note 28). The effective interest
rate of Option A is 8.47%, and the initial recognition of such liabilities is
HK$198,594,000 and amortized to HK$205,521,076 as of 31 December 2022.

The weighted effective interest rate of bank and other borrowings as of 31
December 2022, is approximately 7.21% (2021: 8.12%).

Certain of the Group’s facilities were subject to the fulfillment of covenants
commonly found in lending arrangements. As of 31 December 2022, borrowings
with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$114,592,000 (2021: HK$839,815,000)
were in default of repayment or loan covenants and were classified as current
liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position as of 31 December
2022. The Group is in negotiations with the lenders to refinance the borrowings
at the end of the reporting period. As of the approval date of the consolidated
financial statements, the aforesaid borrowings were not yet renewed nor
repaid.

26.

2].

S —BRERZFIE
RZB-_—_F+-_A=+—8Bk=
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26. AMOUNT DUE TO A SHAREHOLDER

As at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, the amount
due to a shareholder is unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

Upon the Creditors” Scheme becoming effective on 31 May
2022, the amount due to a shareholder of approximately
HK$50,159,000 was discharged pursuant to the Creditors’
Scheme.

2]. DEFERRED REVENUE

—_EB_—F
2022 2021
FET TERT
HK$’000 HK$°000
B3 2 AB 2 BUR R Government grants received related
to assets 75,018

ﬁﬁLi%ﬁ%Z%F AR
LeBEREBERA ==
FEREMBARTL— ﬁ%% 1818
& BEHBUFRERAILITX
LeBEREBERA Thhﬂ%ﬁ
B((EB AR EHAEMKNES
Y% - BE KR ERE

BE_Z-_—_FRk-ZT-_—F+=
A=Z+—BLFE  xEEWTEK
BRAEMER  MBEE_ZT-_—_FK
—E-_—F+-_A=+—HIFE
I B R B AL I A o IR A
BREER D TR E X = BEATE -

P Y st Ak /3 FE R TE 2 B B)) » #11A

RAELEWA R H g AR T &
ERX  RHETIEEERRSF
BB RERR o

In order to encourage the development of magnesium
industry, Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources
Co., Limited entered into an agreement with the local
government in 2012. Pursuant to the agreement, the local
government agree to provide financial assistance (the
“Assistance”) to Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources
Company Limited to improve their production technology and
enhance the capacity of the property, plant and equipment.

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the
Group has not received any Assistance and there were
no other income was recognised for the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021. The carrying amount of deferred
revenue decreased due to the arise of exchange difference.

The Assistance received or which becomes receivables is
initially recognised as deferred revenue and subsequently
recognised in profit or loss over the life of a depreciable
asset by way of as a reduced depreciation charge expense.
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AR E S
RZEZ__FNARB  KAFRE
BEEAGTEMNERETASREE
458,390,000 T ZEE B A R E
H(rpxESHD) -

A E S B T E SR A AR A
BB 2B T AU o AT
EHMEHEAERTARENR
FeoFAEATRARRESZHA
RIBEREHEH - ARFKBEER
BIHA B A R R AR A 5

EATBRBRESGKINFS B2
BAANRASA-_ZTE-_—_F0A8=
HEB K ©

BBERAEENGETEER - ATBRKRE
FRBEENTHNEERNTUALS
HEERESTAEMNEED RO
AtmBaBERED - WEREEE
BEBNETeEMNRERS—18
CHMEEHLNETHEMHNARAAR
GETAZLE  AE#ERTH-
BEBIHRIABRBEUNTTE
BMTEMBIIMESARELGE -
B RNEEN TR ESER
FEEIET R - BT ABRIERERE
R A E R V) A8 R w3 Ik e
FEHNH -  AEBHINI L HER
R ERFENEE8LT% °

T AT BB ESF RS RS
BEERENRINNKERAERER
) o

RZZB-_—_F+-_A=+—8 "
TMBREFEERINANES
320,048,000 7T ' BAAESHH
BE=M o
AEEeRTANERMEREERR
EAEMAE -
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CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 5 August 2022, the Company has issued zero coupon
convertible bonds ("Convertible Bonds”] with aggregate
principal amount of HK$458,390,000 pursuant to the terms
of the Creditors” Scheme.

The Convertible Bonds entitle the bondholder to convert to
shares at a conversion price of HK$1.2. The maturity date
of the Convertible Bonds is 5 years from the date of issue.
Conversion may occur at any time before maturity date
of the Convertible Bonds. The Company will redeem the
Convertible Bonds if the bonds have not been converted on
maturity date.

For more details of the terms of Convertible Bonds. Please
refer to the Company’s circular dated on 3 May 2022.

According to the Group's accounting policy, the Convertible
Bonds are classified separately as financial liabilities and
equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument. Conversion option that will be
settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another
financial asset for a fixed number of the Company’'s own
equity instruments is an equity instrument. The fair value
of the liability component is estimated using the prevailing
market interest rate for similar non-convertible instruments.
The equity element is presented in equity under the heading
of “convertible bond equity reserve”. The issuer redemption
options are considered as closely related to the host debt
and are not separated from the host contract. The effective
interest rate of the liability component on initial recognition
is 8.47% per annum.

The convertible option initially included in convertible bonds
equity reserve was transferred to retained earnings upon

expiry.

The fair value of the liability component of the Convertible
Bonds at 31 December 2022 amounted to HK$320,048,000,
which are within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group's financial
instruments reasonably approximate to fair values.

28. AR ESE)
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28. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

The Convertible Bonds issued during the year have been
split into the liability and equity components as follows:

AMBEESNEITRRNAAE

FET
HK$'000

Fair value of the Convertible Bonds
at the issuance date

R Es D Equity Component
RETRBRNEESS Liability component at the issuance date
B F 2 (FEE8) Interest expenses (Note 8)

Liability component as at 31 December 2022
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T

EEIBEE

29. DEFERRED TAXATION

The components of deferred tax balances recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position and the
movements during the year as follows:

Deferred Tax Liabilities

R-E-—F—H—H
SFAGZAEE EAM

AR E S

Convertible

EREERE
Right-of-

bond use assets Total

TET TET TET

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000

As at 1 January 2021 - 2,986 2,986
Credited to consolidated

FHEWAK statement of profit
or loss and other
comprehensive income - (80) (80)
b &5 Exchange realignment - 89 89

RZZEZ_—F+_HA=+—H Asat31 December 2021

StABABEEREMD
2ERAE

and 1 January 2022 - 2,995 2,995
Credited to consolidated
statement of profit

or loss and other
comprehensive income - (77) (77)

HZETAMBRIES AR

Deferred tax related to

RIET TR issuance of convertible
bonds 6,861 - 6,861
bE 7, B2 %] Exchange realignment = (225) (225)
R-E-—F As at 31 December 2022
+=—B=+—H 6,861 2,693 9,554

AEERBEER(HE R FTFHATN
EREEMEEY 587,887,000
BL(ZEE=—4F : 39,301,000/
gC) - WA HEREKIEEA B S

SEMNPBEAMEERBERERD
AT (ZT—%F : 11,081,000
7T) - BN —ERFABBAK R
KERTEN - At ME AR E
B-REREARREERBOENT
JE VAR 85 1kt 5 B B8 R m] AT ) A 2 AR
BEER  SRtEBEMS - LK
RELEMRAEE -
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The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong before Inland
Revenue Department ("IRD") assessment of approximately
HK$87,887,000 (2021: HK$39,301,000] that are available
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arose. The Group also has tax
losses arising in Mainland China of approximately HK$Nil
(2021: HK$11,081,000) that will expire in one to five years for
offsetting against future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets
have not been recognised in respect of these losses as they
have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for
some time and it is not considered probable that taxable
profits will be available against which the tax losses can be
utilised by these subsidiaries.
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DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)
Deferred Tax Liabilities (continued)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in Mainland China. The requirement is effective
from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31
December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be
applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China and
the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group,
the applicable rate is 5%. The Group is therefore liable
to withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of
earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

At 31 December 2022, no deferred tax has been recognised
for withholding dividend taxes that would be payable on
the unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding
dividend taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries, associate, and
joint ventures established in Mainland China. In the opinion
of the directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries,
associate and joint ventures will distribute such earnings in
the foreseeable future. There was no significant temporary
difference associated with investments in subsidiaries, joint
ventures and associate in Mainland China at the end of the
reporting period (2021: nil).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.
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30. BA&
ARFEE RO BITRA 2 & EHE

30. SHARE CAPITAL

A summary of movements in the Company’s authorised and

AR issued share capital is as follows:

Number of Share
shares capital
2EBIT

RHEA R
HK$'000
THRT
BEERTRAE Issued and fully paid:
BR0001BT(ZE=—F : 0.01%81) Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 (2021: HK$0.1)
N AR each
ETE Authorised:

RZF_—%-A—RA ZF--F

+ZA=+—-Ak=E--%—RA—H

As at 1 January 2021,
31 December 2021 and

1 January 2022 130,000,000,000 1,300,000
B E AR R 2 IRARHDA - D& 5 R Capital reduction; share
Bn i (fsta) consolidation and share
sub-division upon capital
reorganisation effective [Note a) (117,000,000,000) -
R-E-_—%F+-A=+—H As at 31 December 2021 13,000,000,000 1,300,000
BETRER Issued and fully paid
R-E-_—%—Hf—H" As at 1 January 2021,
—E_-%+-R=1+-H 31 December 2021 and
k=F-—_F—H—H 1 January 2022 6,584,390,058 658,439
R AR B4 A e 2 AR AR HI R Capital reduction; share
B & o KB 174 (B eEa) consolidation and share
sub-division upon capital
reorganisation effective (Note a) (6,255,170,558) (655,147)
ERATEIEREFETL Issue of scheme shares upon
BEDGIGED) creditors’ scheme effective(Note b) 65,843,900 658
RZBZZH+ZA=1+—-H As at 31 December 2022 395,063,402 3,950

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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3. i

BiE

(a)

(b)

(&)

ARFZBRABHAN T - —_F+F+WA
AR MBRAEEBIEATEE !

(i) AARRAHE - +REREE.10
B2 EBITRABETRNAHR—
BARRBRARGRE(E2.0087T2
aptim

i) BAHR : QRABD G MEE A
REBETRADERTEHE GED
BT - RbBIBARRZE 3T
A TARRERERTZERE
BERAD 2 BBBR AR EE 851 998 T
SEHETAURN ZEERSR2.00
BLREESR0VET : &

i) EBERAHREK  SREE2.0087T
ZAEEERETRHFROGIFA/ =
BREREE.0VE T 2 ¥ EBA o

BE-_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—HULFE &
BEHEATE  ARRBRETEER.20
U B 1T 65,843,900 % 5H BIR% 1D - BML B RS
RDETRIZIRBEBITIRMNEE 20% °

FHEIRR G 1 i T Bl A AR RE R R IR B
BEREARA - BT EROBTEERTR
HRREEERARREERRE -

FHREZHE  F2HAQRABMA-ZZ
“HERAARZARZZE=FEA=-+RAZ

N=

HE

(a)

(b)
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30. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes:

On 14 July 2022, the capital reorganisation of the Company became effective.
And the capital reorganization comprised the following:

(i) every twenty issued and unissued shares of par value HK$0.10 each in
the share capital of the Company be consolidated into one consolidated
share of par value HK$2.00 each in the share capital of the Company;

(i) the capital reduction by which: (a) any fractional consolidated share
in the issued share capital of the Company arising from the share
consolidation shall be cancelled; and (b) the issued share capital of the
Company be reduced by cancelling the paid-up capital to the extent
of HK$1.99 on each of the then issued consolidated shares such that
the par value of each issued consolidated share will be reduced from
HK$2.00 to HK$0.01; and

(iii) immediately following the capital reduction, each of the authorised but
unissued consolidated share with par value of HK$2.00 each be sub-
divided into two hundred new shares of par value HK$0.01 each.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company issued 65,843,900
scheme shares at an issue price of HK$1.20 per share under the Creditors’
Scheme which represents 20% of existing number of issued shares before
relevant share issue.

The Scheme Shares are held by the Scheme Company for and on behalf of the
Term Extension Option Creditors. None of the Term Extension Option Creditors
will become a substantial shareholder of the Company as a result of the
issuance of the Scheme Shares.

For more details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 3
May 2022 and 26 July 2022.
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SHARE OPTIONS

On 4 December 2017, a share option scheme (the "Scheme”)
was approved by the shareholders of the Company. Under
the Scheme, the Company may grant options to the directors
or employees of the Group and any substantial shareholder,
consultant or adviser, distributor, contractor, supplier,
service provider, agent, customer and business partner of
the Group (the “Eligible Participant”) to subscribe for shares
in the Company.

Options may be granted on such terms and conditions
in relation to their vesting, exercise or otherwise as the
directors may determine in its absolute discretion, provided
that such terms and conditions shall not be inconsistent with
any other term conditions of the Scheme.

The subscription price is not less than the highest of (i] the
closing price of the shares on Main Boards stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of offer
of the option; (ii] the average prices of the shares on Main
Board as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding the
date of offer of the option; and (i) the nominal value of the
shares. The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to
repurchase or settle the options in cash.

The share options are exercisable only if the Eligible
Participants remain in the service of the Group or substantial
shareholder from the grant date of the share options up to
the designated exercise date.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each eligible person in
the twelve-month period expiring on the offer date must
not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Group.
Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder or
an independent non-executive director of the Group, or any
of their respective associates, would result in the securities
issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options already
granted and to be granted (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the twelve-
month period up to and including the date of such grant (i)
representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the relevant class of
securities in issue: and (i) (where the securities are listed on
the Stock Exchange), having an aggregate value, based on
the closing price of the securities at the date of each grant,
in excess of HK$5 million, such further grant of options
must be approved by shareholders of the Group.
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SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

BEZE--F+ZRA=1— For the year ended 31 December 2022
BLEFE
R
—E-C
RRf A £ =
KR it M =+-H Riyadta &8
(f3E30) Bl e K8 BROGE
Adjusted
Adjusted Exercisable exercisable
upon the price per share price per share
completion Options Options Options Options before share after share
Heldat  of the share Held after granted exercised cancelled lapsed Heldat  consolidation consolidation
31 December  consolidation share during  during the during during 31 December on14July on14July 2022
2021 [note 30 consolidation the year year the year the year 2022 2022 [note]
BT B
HKS
W k8
Employees 163,400,000 (155,230,000 8,170,000 8,170,000
140,000,000 (133,000,000 7,000,000 7,000,000
B EE
Directors
it 30,000,000  (28,500,000) 1,500,000 1,500,000
Shum Sai Chit
B 5,000,000 (4,750,000) 250,000 250,000
Kwong Ping Man
Rex 5,000,000 (6,750,000 250,000 250,000
Cheung Sound Poon
Baf 5,000,000 (4,750,000 250,000 (250,000)
Kwan Ngai Kit*

208,400,000
140,000,000

348,400,000

(197,980,000)
(133,000,000)

(330,980,000)

10,620,000
7,000,000

17,420,000

(250,000 10,170,000
- 7,000,000

250,000 17,170,000

RZBEZZFXRAZ+EBRE

retired on 27 June 2022
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N BRE® 31.  SHARE OPTIONS (continued)
BE-_ZE-_—F+=-HA=1— For the year ended 31 December 2021
BLEFE
i
i it Sbk:2
2% £ 3 % I
-A—-H Bitiz ez i X¥e =1-H e
B8 BRE BRE BRE BRiE B8 (Bz)
Options Options Options Options
Held at granted exercised cancelled lapsed Held at Exercise
1 January during during the during during 31 December price
2021 the year year the year the year 2021 (note)
BT
HK$
A &8
Employees 163,400,000 - - - - 163,400,000 0.4
140,000,000 - - - - 140,000,000 0.3
B &3
Directors
R 30,000,000 - - - - 30,000,000 0.4
Shum Sai Chit
il i 3,000,000 - - - (3,000,000) - 0.4
Chi Jing Chao*
g 5,000,000 - - - (5,000,000) - 0.4
Meng Jian*
BRX 5,000,000 - - - - 5,000,000 0.4
Kwong Ping Man
RER 5,000,000 - - - - 5,000,000 0.4
Cheung Sound Paon
B 5,000,000 - - - - 5,000,000 0.4
Kwan Ngai Kit
216,400,000 - - - (8,000,000 208,400,000 0.4
140,000,000 - - - - 140,000,000 0.3
356,400,000 - - - (8,000,000 348,400,000 -
* RZTEZ—FN\A—HEHE & resigned on 1 August 2021
# RZZEZ—FA=1+HERE ” retired on 30 June 2021

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
158 Annual Report 2022

BIRE =

R_ZE__F+_A=+—H" &
RITEBREBUTERBE - 17

EHARITHERE -

A

BN EAE Y
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
BE_TZ-HF+=-H=+—HILFJE For the year ended 31 December 2022

31. SHARE OPTIONS /continued)

Options outstanding at 31 December 2022 have the following
expiry date, exercise period and exercise prices.

ERAH TEH BRITHEER REHE
Exercise prices Number of
Grant date Exercise period per Share Options
BT
HK$
“Z-\FMAZ-THA “EZFTZAZTAR BZIE-N\Fr—A-REZE
“R-ZFT-A-tAH 8 10,170,000
25 April 2018 29 December 2023 From 1 November 2018 to
29 December 2023
—E-NFtAZTHE “EZF\A=t—HB BIE-NFAA-BEZE
“E--f/\A=t—H 6 7,000,000
25 July 2019 31 August 2022 From 1 September 2019 to
31 August 2022
17,170,000
MRAFERBE - Zar811E T A f# As at the date of the annual report, the total number of

T2 ARB R B (B it sEk
ITE AR HE) A40,041,9500% » &
RAREE BBEEITRALI0.1% °
ZETE BT FHOAENF - TR
—E-HFt+-_AMEER -

Shares of the Company available for issue under the Scheme
(including the above Options outstanding not yet exercised)
was 40,041,950 representing approximately 10.1% of the
issued share capital of the Company as of the date thereof.
The remaining life of the Scheme is approximately 5 years
and to be expired on 4 December 2027.
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BRE
BHE-_Z—NEF+-_A=+—HI1t
FEMBRECERE FAH-F
NHETERAEETAAERY
13,509,000/ 7T - W AZGHERAH
BEEHERZARKRLBHENKE
0.285%8 T LilifT{E(E - THEIIR(E R
N IRL6.729%E54.568% ~ FEHE
BB F K 1.459% % 1.758% ° #91.10
E310FEFHEREF I LR B WS
1. 64 o LR E O HRAIFER
EZMsrEMRE - DIREHR - —
TEE+-_A=+—HE-_Z—NF
+tAZ+THEEMNEBARENRTD
MEE/L BE_T-__F+=
A=+—HIFE ' 49918,000/% T
—E - —F 12,232,000 ) B 5t
AR BEEAEME2EKERA -

HE_Z-_—_Fr-_F-_—F+=
A=Z+—BLHFEBRERHTMAE
AR HE o

(EA]
AEERARFREFBEREZ B
SHENMEZEHZINNMBHRERF66
BB ERA -

RZEBE-_—_F+_A=+—H" &
NAAI RS REEBE—NN—F
BREQAREEEF) T REED
HHE) AH669,253,0008 T (ZE=—
F : 480,084,000 7T) ° RIE A A
& RRBNEMBS I A H 5K
FREE - INSEHARAELEERE

B ENREEEMN A EREENR
HEREERE TSN EHAR

IR IR B SAEE 2K ©

AEB 2 HRREERERE-NAN=
FARRB BN EHAFETZA
SESAMBBZHBERRRNDZ
HE > RRXBEEROMBETZA
RAIRMEEZER -

3.
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SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

The fair value of Options granted during the year ended
31 December 2019 determined using the Binomial Option
Pricing model was approximately HK$13,509,000. The
significant inputs into the model were share price of
HK$0.285, at the grant date and adjusted for the effect of
the share subdivision, exercise price shown above, expected
volatility ranged from 46.729% to 54.568%, annual risk-
free interest rate of 1.459% to 1.758%. Expected life of
Options of approximately 1.10 to 3.10 years and dividend
payout ratio 1.64. The volatility measured at the standard
deviation of expected share price returns is based on
statistical analysis of daily share prices from 31 December
2010 to 25 July 2019. During the year ended 31 December
2022, approximately HK$918,000 (2021: HK$2,232,000) were
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

No Options were granted during the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current year and prior period are presented
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page
66 of the financial statements.

As at 31 December 2022, the Company’s reserves available
for distribution, calculated in accordance with the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended) ("Companies
Act”) amounted to HK$669,253,000 (2021: HK$480,084,000).
Under the Companies Act, the Company’'s contributed
surplus of the Company is also available for distribution to
the Shareholders. No dividend shall be paid or distribution
made out of contributed surplus if to do so would render the
Company unable to pay its liabilities as they become due or
the realisable value of its assets would thereby become less
than its liabilities.

The Group’s special reserve represents the difference
between the nominal value of the shares of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to the Group reorganisation prior to the
listing of the Company's shares in 1993, and the nominal
value of the Company's shares issued in exchange therefor.
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RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

RZE--5-A-H As at 1 January 2022
HERENE Financing cash flow

B 5 &5 Exchange realignment
R a2 Other non-cash movement:

FERIHIS Interest payable
Effective interest expense
Liabilities transferred pursuant to the

BIRHE S
REEEASEENAR

Creditors Scheme

BH-%
RRZHE R EBARE WTRRES
Interest  Convertible
Borrowings  Payables bonds
TiEn TiEn TiEn
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
876,043 82,847 998,848

(34,621) (429) (21,978)
(6,411) 183 (6,228)

3,076 3,076
6,918 10,385 17,303

(50,159)  (521,825) (77,203) 309,663 (339,524

WZE-—F+-A=1+—H

Net debt as at 31 December

NEBFE 2022 2,871 320,104 8,474 320,048
-2
RR2HE EE RIS st
Duetoa Interest
shareholder ~ Borrowings Payables Total
TR FET TR FHT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZEZ—F—H—H As at 1 January 2021 33,959 872,319 33,566 939,844
BERERE Financing cash flow (12,201) (793) (2,068) (15,062)
B % &5 Exchange realignment - 4517 148 4,665
HitERe 29 - Other non-cash movement:
FERHE Interest payable 18,200 - 51,201 69,401
RZZEZ—F+-H=F+—H  Netdebtasat3! December 202
Ry 39,958 876,043 82,847 998,848
FRERS 34. NON-CASH TRANSACTION

BHE_S-_—_F#+-_A=+—81t
FEHME WX BEIREBIA
EXTBHGFERGFEEREES T
#91,601,00058 7T }2.5,921,000/8 JT AT

:t/f/‘\-
HEE o

During the year ended 31 December 2022, additions
of property, plant and equipment was partially settled
by inventories and prepayment for inventories with the
amounts of approximately HK$1,601,000 and HK$5,921,000
respectively.
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% BEERM 35. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 3. EXBEALTRF @) 37. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
REFNFLEEEFERBIFNER Details of the Group's borrowings, which are secured by (b) ANEBETEEIEABRM (b] Compensation of key management personnel of the
BEEE R M sE14 15~ 2225 © certain assets of the Group, are included in notes 14, 15, 22 Group:
and 25.
—ET_— —EB -4
36. AIE 36. COMMITMENTS 2022 2021
. FET FEBT
REERHKEBRITE NIIE A& The Group had the following capital commitments at the end HK$'000 HK$'000
HE f the reportin riod:
s of the reporting period EE2(FIFE9) Directors (Note 9) 1,163
HEMEEEEBAS : Other key management personnel:
=== —E--F e RAEMEHES R Salaries and other short term
2022 2021 employee benefits 1,376
FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 2,539
ERTAERIERAE Contracted, but not provided for: - (c] ﬁél\\:g&% :%ﬁgz%iz)iza—f/—]% (c) Ar? ath3 sdDecember 2022, tlhe ag;ount due[ to a
2 i : C JE — TKIAA) A shareholder was approximately HK$2,871,000 (2021:
MR - BER&iR Property, plant and equipment 28,973 10.001 2,871,000 L (= ——4F : HK$39,958,000). Thepgmount is unsecured, non-interest
39,958,0007\%7_&) ° % PRI AR bearing and repayable on demand (note 26).
3. EXEEALRS 37. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS e L b
(a) BRENLZFMBHREHEMEELR (a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in
MR HIN - REFEAR - NEE these financial statements, the Group had the following d R-ZT-_—F+-F=+4— (d) As at 31 December 2022, the convertible bonds issued
BT ERBEALRS : material transactions with related parties during the B MARAEERERA to the immediate holding company of the Company,
year: A]Ming Xin Developments Ming Xin Developments Limited, was approximately
Limited3& 1T A A # AR S 25 40 7= HK$312,149,000 (note 28).
312,149,000/ 7T (F7E28) °
—=—— —Em—_F (e E&ZZDK’&?E@:%;—EJ\H (e} As disclosed in the announcement of the Company
+—gF=1—pg - —E%J%ééa’\jg%:g%@\%ﬁﬁﬁ published on 1 August 2021 (the "Announcement”),
LEE LR BE BUTAZBEBEX Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources Co., Ltd.
= = BRARIRNEBEAGEHmE and Xinjiang Tengxiang Magnesium Products Company
Year ended Year ended RARI(ARARIMEEZENE Limited, the indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of
31 December 31 December AR EIRITE] LR E - A the Company, entered into guarantee agreements
2022 2021 EREFBHZETILFRABL with a bank to guarantee the payment obligations
FET Fi# T ITERMER2A(WRAR] - of Shandong Hongri Chemical Joint Stock Company
HK$'000 HK$'000 Bt S EER AR A A (R Limited ("Shandong Hongri”), an indirect non-wholly
é@?gﬁ%ﬂ%ﬁ)%;ﬂg%é@ owned stjbsidiary of Century Sunshine Group Holding]s
I A T : SN A)) BLZIRTTRIZ B i Limited (the controlling shareholder of the Company],
rﬂ%ﬁ%ﬂgA RIS Mzza%ig:.en:;;eaetepahldlég AILRAHBNHNSESAR in respect of the loans amounting to RMB124.96 million
B ' ! olaing #124,960,0007T B9 & A 3R advanced by that bank to Shandong Hongri under the
company 1,200 BBt WRARREAERR loan agreements. Shandong Hongri is accordingly a
AR EMRAFBILATIET 2 connected person of the Company under Chapter T4A
BEAT  RERBEBKA of the Listing Rules, and the guarantees constituted
RAIR ETRBNET 2 BER connected transactions of the Company under the
5 W/AEST EMRAE14A Listing Rules and were subject to the reporting,
BEEF7B®%  RERTERE announcement requirements and independent
VIRRALERE o A - AR shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter
RN EERMAKRESTE BIE T4A of the Listing Rules. However, the Company
RzBEH - RERERBIRK had not complied with the reporting, announcement
RYERTE - ARBIEHIME requirements and independent shareholders’ approval
&R RS e T E BTl requirement in respect of the Guarantees at the
B BREEZ RSB EN relevant time. The Company has taken various remedial
BRTaRiEN- measures to enhance its internal control and prevent ‘
recurrence of such non-compliance as disclosed in the
Announcement.
Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited R EETE NG
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3. EREEALIRZ &=
() BEBTEBAEZZERRA
BELEMAAUTERRADE
T4A. 721 -

- BREX@E) - JRAEESE
N BERABWFEITATE
B EMBEBMATSTH
FTHRBFUASHESE
T o

- BEBRLEX(EFAE
[P REIER AR EE
B |XEBRRLETHRAUE
T4A T3 R B 14N T61KTB
TZ3E - RERREL
HEZITE ©

- EFEHERLEX(c)E
FTE[EMing Xin
Developments Limitedsk
BITDERERHBER
R BAEEYEE
EERER - HiLASEH
e EmRAE LA TIER
F14A0RE T 2
NE BN R EZ
MIE °

BRIAEPRRESN EERR - W5
TR MR EME D FARE
HBEALRZETNE LHR
AIFILAEPBIER S IMNERE -
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37. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(ff  Pursuant to Rule 14A.72 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”):

- Save as disclosed in the item (a), (c] and (d] above,
the Directors consider that the other related party
transactions disclosed in the Note 37 do not fall
under the definition of “connected transaction” in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

- The Directors confirm that the transactions
under “management fee paid to an intermediate
holding company” set forth in item (a) above are
fully exempt from the reporting, announcement,
circular and shareholders’ approval requirements
under Rule 14A.73 and Rule 14A.76 of the Listing
Rules.

- The Directors confirm that the transaction under
“amount due to Ming Xin Developments Limited”
set forth in item (c) was conducted on normal
commercial terms or better, and not secured by
the assets of the Group, and thus are fully exempt
from the reporting, announcement, circular and
shareholders” approval requirements under Rule
14A.73 and Rule 14A.90 of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors consider that the
other related party transactions disclosed in the Note 37 and
elsewhere in these financial statements do not fall under the
definition of “connected transaction” in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:

—EF--%+=-A=t+—-H
31 December 2022

FEWE 5 BRK
IR MEMERRIBEZ EREE

E IR RITER
RAe KRS EHEER

Trade receivables

e
RESTE 7
SRAE

Financial
assets at
amortised cost
THET
HK$°000

Financial assets

Financial assets included in deposits and
other receivables

Pledged bank deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

FERT B B iRK
SIREM N FRRME ERZ
TRBME

=

e — R IR 2 FRIA
AR 55

R
BAFTE 2
Ea =K
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
F#ET
HK$'000

Financial liabilities

Trade payables 17,449
Financial liabilities included in other

payables and accruals 23,244
Borrowings 320,104

Amount due to a shareholder 2,871

Convertible bonds 320,048

683,716
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)

—F-—-%+=-A=+—-H
31 December 2021

R

A& 2

eREE

Financial

assets at

TREE Financial assets amortised cost

TET

HK$°000

e E S BRI Trade receivables 149,504
P BEe REMBRFIEZ E@MEE Financial assets included in deposits and

other receivables 5,092

EARITER Pledged bank deposits 10,490

RekREFEER Cash and cash equivalents 25,078

190,164

g

RATTEZ

cRas

Financial

liabilities at

TREE Financial liabilities amortised cost

FHET

HK$'000

e 8B 5 R Trade payables 13,364

P REMENRIBEREFERZ Financial liabilities included in other

TRAE payables and accruals 134,351

&K Borrowings 876,043

N — R 2 K8 Amount due to a shareholder 39,958

1,063,716
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FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of the
Group's financial assets and liabilities, the balance were
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the
short term maturities of these instruments.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments mainly comprise
trade and bills receivables, deposits and other receivables,
cash and cash equivalents, pledged bank deposits, trade
payables, other payables and accruals, borrowings, and
amount due to a non-controlling shareholder and convertible
bonds.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk and foreign
currency risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees
policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are
monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure
to bad debts is not significant. For transactions that are
not denominated in the functional currency of the relevant
operating unit, the Group does not offer credit terms without
the specific approval of the Head of Credit Control.
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4. MBEEREERERBER

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(& [continued)
SERE M Credit risk (continued)
REBNANIEERR D RTEE The Group’'s internal credit risk grading assessment
AT R comprises the following categories:
MBS EFTAR it FEW B Z BRFX HttEmERE
Internal credit Other financial
rating Description Trade receivables assets
(KR R ST 77 0 E KR K B 3 A ZHEMEEEE - 1218 A Y2 58
BHAFRIA ARBELEEERE EEER
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default Lifetime ECL- 12m ECL
and does not have any past-due not credit-impaired
amounts
ERRE EHALEEDRRAER - BEBF EHIRHEEEE - 1218 A Y8 58
BHBE ABEFEERE (Vg
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates Lifetime ECL- 12m ECL
but usually settle in full not credit-impaired
17 5% RIBABER KIS EF - SHREREERE - 2HRBEEESE -
B ERAREERREZE LT ARBELEEERE ARBEEEERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases Lifetime ECL- Lifetime ECL-
in credit risk since initial recognition not credit-impaired  not credit-impaired
through information developed
internally or externally
18 BREBRNEECHRLEEERME DHRBEEEE - 2HRBEEES -
BEELEERE ERLEEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL~ Lifetime ECL~
credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
HEH BRBBRRNEBABAREMEM AR WA
ZRER (B UG O FRIR B0 M S
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the Amount is written off Amount is written off

debtor is in severe financial difficulty

and the Group has no realistic prospect
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

TERABAEEBLETEMEES
?%E%EEI’U@EE’&EFEEE&E@%EEL

oo .
A

[continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of
the Group’s financial assets, which are subject to ECL
assessment:

REERATENERERE
Financial assets at
amortised cost

FRWE B

Trade receivables

e RAMEKHR

Notes

20

20

21

Deposits and other receivables 21

EERRITEH
Pledged bank deposits
RITHEER

Bank balances

22
22
22
22

HBEE
G
External
credit
rating

A3EAa?
A3 to Aa2
A3EAa3
A3 to Aa3

ABEE 128 A= 2 HFEH
BE FEF#E REAE
Internal credit 12-month or
ratings lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
—E-C —E--F
2022 2021
TET TEr
HK$°000 HK$°000
(KRB FHRNEEER
- REEFERE 536
Low risk lifetime ECL-
not credit-impaired 536
ERYE FHRNEEER
- REEEERE 125,913
Watch list lifetime ECL-not
credit-impaired 125913
2= FHRNEEER
- REEEERE 28,772
Doubtful lifetime ECL-not
credit-impaired 28,772
E# FHRNEEER
-BREEERE 153,358 51,185
Loss Lifetime ECL-
credit-impaired 153,358 51,185
{ERR 1B AEHEEER 3,930 7,614
Low risk 12m ECL 3,930 7,614
TEH 12 AEHEEER 9,698 10,490
N/A 12m ECL 9,698 10,490
TER 128 AEHEEESE 28,595 25,051
N/A 12m ECL 28,595 25,051
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HEZZTZ-F+=-A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZZ-_F+-H=+—HBILEJE For the year ended 31 December 2022
0. BIRERABEEBERBEKR 40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 0 BIERBEEEERBEK 40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(& [continued) (#&) [continued)
AEBECHEKESERERES For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified TRIRERE T /AR M The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL
B mEREREITHNE A E & approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at EoERREHEHEEEREENE that has been recognised for trade receivables under the
FHEHREESETEERRERS - lifetime ECL. Except for debtors with significant outstanding g : simplified approach:
BRAEEEHRERNIEEHREER balances or credit-impaired, the Group determines the ECL
ENEKREZRRIN - REBEZ on these items on a collective basis, grouped by aging status 2 HAE HA 2 HAYE Hf
FHE R B E - B and past due status. EEEE EBER
BETHEAEERSE - (RHBE (BHBRE
. . . EiRE) EiRE)
ERAEEFEERREREN — As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group Lifetimelz ECL Lifetim(; ECL
D AEEREEEHATFER applies internal credit rating for its customers in relation (not credit- (credit-
NEEETAR - TRIEENZ BB to its operation. The following table provides information impaired] impaired]
HEEEBRAN(RELEERE)® about the exposure to credit risk for trade receivables which ;:% - p:F% =
SREAETLEHEAEKE ZERKF are assessed on a collective basis within lifetime ECL (not HK$I'OI§EJ HK$/'038
HEREERRHNER RZT__ credit-impaired). Debtors with credit-impaired with gross
F+-_A=+—HEZELEEERE carrying amounts of HK$153,358,000 as at 31 December N-—E——E—F—{ At 1 January 2021 3173 317 3490
i AR T 42 {8 4153,358,0008 T (=& 2022 (2021: HK$51,185,000) were assessed individually. ﬁi;ﬁ;? o Transfer / i781] 781 L
_— . < — E= R m E
_+§¢é§,11£ %5’000/%75) kbt BRI EE B RS Impairment losses
EVE S FER recognised, net 3,275 50,033 53,308
bE 5 =R Exchange difference 50 54 104
=2 —E_—F
R WEE%MEWZW RZTZ—F At 31 December 2021 and
2 = PEMX B 27 AR TA =] = P B 7z ARFA = —
Average Trade Average Trade +_H :+— H & 1 ‘January 2022

NS E TR Internal credit rating loss rate receivables loss rate receivables RZZE-_—F—H—H CWAV) 51,185 56,902
FiBT FHT [L¥54 Transfer (4,459) 4,459 -
HK$'000 HK$'000 DA EER S5 Impairment losses

KRB Low risk 1.2% 536 recognised, net (19) 104,192 104,173
EREE Yeteh it . eors E 3,2 48 Exchange difference (1,214) (6,478) (7,692)
= Doubtful
" 17.5% 28,772 RZEZZHF At 31 December 2022
+=ZA=+—H 25 153,358 153,383
155,221
et BEETDRERKE 5 RN The estimated loss rates are estimated based on probability
EHEFERANEOR R RENE of default and loss given default over the expected life of
KEMELME  WIRBEANEBES the trade receivables and are adjusted for forward-looking
BN S %% ) BRI 1S 8Y AT BE 1M B K information that is available without undue costs or effort.
TIARE -
B#Er-_ZE-_—_F#+-_A=+—H 1t During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
FE - AEERBERTHEIE provided reversal of HK$19,000 (2021: allowance for
W& 58 FORE B 185 019,000/ 7T HK$3,275,000) impairment loss recognised for trade
—T -4 : B#3,275,00087T) receivables based on collective assessment. Impairment
ERBEREASY D HELEFEEREN allowance of HK$104,192,000 (2021: HK$50,033,000) were
AR RGT IR E 5 104,192,00078 7T made on debtors with significant balance and credit-
—ZF = —4% :50,033,00087T) ° impaired debtors.
Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited HERRERERER AT
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40.

172

MEEREER ERBX

&

SUR S N EL AR WG IR R A ER R B
BimE - AKEERBEER RS
%i@@%@a@%ﬁﬁ%%%@%
J: o

T —F+=-A=+—H1LFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

[continued)

For the purpose of internal credit risk management of
deposits and other receivables, the Group uses past due
informations to assess whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition.

REH & #EE
Not past due Past due Total
FET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
—T--F 2022
me RE A RIKRIE Deposits and other

receivables

—E-—4F 2021
e KHEMEWRIE Deposits and other
receivables 7,614 - 7,614

RS MEMBYGIRNS - EEE
REBETREENREOZ GRS N
Ho At FEUGR IR B FT YR B E T B E M
B FHE - ERERS - RFHIEA
EEARB T HERARL EEE
Tt MASER12(EARREERE
FHERERE -

For deposits and other receivables, the management makes
periodic individual assessment on the recoverability of
deposits and other receivables based on industry credit
rating and default rate. The management believes that there
are no significant increase in credit risk of these amounts
since initial recognition and the Group provided impairment
based on 12m ECL.

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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B b e B ERBUR 40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(#&) [continued)
TRETEMIZ S & E Ath FE W RIETE The following table show the movement of ECLthat has been

REEIE SEAL S

recognised for deposits and other receivables.

R-ZE-—%F—Ff—H
ERERNESEREFE
EHERE

2HRY 2HEH

FEER FEFR

12{8 7 (RBEME (BHHRE
BEHFEERR ERE) ERfE) 2y

Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL

(not credit- (credit-
12m impaired) impaired) Total
TER TER TER FEr
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

At 1 January 2021

Reversal of impairment
losses recognised, net

Exchange difference

R-_E-—%+-A=+—H
ER-E--#—HF—H
BRERREEEFE

R EH

At 31 December 2021 and
1 January 2022

Impairment losses
recognised, net

Exchange difference

RZE-_—_F+-A=1+—H

At 31 December 2022
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5 OHERRZUTFHREERFE
EEREERBETRESETR
BERTT - AEERBRAR - A&
B2Z B EEFREBRENRE
AEEETRNEORRRENE
REBENEFR - FHEBITESRE
122EABMEEER - RIEFIHIE
KR RITHESKNI2EAERESR
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REERE

A= E b

AR EE gt 2 HE R R ITF RN E E F
REFEEE A 2 EFXER(BREF
&7 2 Bl 2B £ 2252 25) °

HREEERRAEEN LR AR
BENERERYTEKR  BRFRE
3% JE A S TT ) R 4= B s B A Y
EE o

BN IRITIE KRR B A R ERITE K
MIRITHIS R R AN E - AEE TR
HRBEEREMNERER o NEEH
RengMEakEEZBEPRNRT
RERR S B SRR R YR ED

40.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

[continued)

For pledged bank deposits and bank balances, the credit risk
is limited because the counterparties are reputable banks
with high credit ratings assigned by international credit
agencies. The Group assessed 12m ECL for pledged bank
deposits and bank balances by reference to information
relating to probability of default and loss given default of
the respective credit rating grades published by external
credit rating agencies. Based on the average loss rates,
the 12m ECL on pledged bank deposits and bank balances
is considered to be insignificant and therefore no loss
allowance was recognised.

Interest Rate Risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to pledged bank deposits and fixed-rate borrowings
(see Notes 22 and 25 respectively for details).

As management considers the Group's exposure to
the above fair value interest rate risk is not significant,
no interest rate swaps or other hedging activities are
undertaken by management during the year.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
due to the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate
on bank deposits and variable-rate bank borrowings. The
Group's cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the fluctuation of interest rates on bank balances and
borrowings.

40.

REREEEERBE
(&)

BRE DT

W —ZE - —F+-A=1+—HH)F
BFRERFERER FNEERFE
5,/ K10EEZ(FFR0.1%) (T
—&F 0EEE) - AEEFAKRTE
1% E518 518 10, Rk > 4935,00078 7T (=
T —F  FRBRBEEEBEN
SR #985,000587T) ©

7K &= (B 73 IH e B LA 3R 17 T 35 A R A
BHRTEHRERENIR S REN X
Rk - A BRIRITEHIRRE
%%E‘Wﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ%@@ﬁ?
Hig -

REE TR
AEENULELERPESRETA
EREETRRER - ZTAES
HeMTARSBMEE(WERKES
BRSO 2 BIEER - WTRBREER
ZEEREBR
AEBEERARTERRRITEE
B BN EBESHBEENERMETD
BMEG P - AEBR _—_T— —F
+T A=+ BRI ZRIT
%%Eﬁ%%ﬁ@&%%%%ﬁ%
TREMANEESERSGHRRIE
SRAMBANRZERAE - LH
2 BERGERENEBREEEA
2SR BMER 2 IR AR F R
#BENA -

40.

S 7% s R Y o ()
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BE-_T--F+=-A=+—HIEFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

[continued)
Sensitivity Analysis

If interest rates on variable-rate borrowings as at 31
December 2022 had been 10 basis points (0.1% per annum)
(2021: 10 basis points) higher/lower than the actual effective
interest rate, the Group’s post-tax loss for the year would
increase/decrease by approximately HK$35,000 (2021:
post tax loss for the year would increase/decrease by
approximately HK$85,000).

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to bank balances carried at prevailing market rate.
However, such exposure is minimal to the Group as the bank
balances are all short-term in nature.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial
assets (e.g., trade receivables) and projected cash flows
from operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of
bank borrowings and banking facilities. The Group’s bank
borrowings would mature in less than one year as at 31
December 2022 based on the carrying value of borrowings
reflected in the financial statements.

The following tables described the maturity profile of the
Group's financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting
period, based on the contractual undiscounted payments.
Specifically, borrowing with repayment on demand clause
and amounts being demanded by the creditors for immediate
repayment are included in the earliest time band.
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0. BERKREEBZEREEK 40.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(& [continued)
REE SRR & Liquidity risk (continued)
ZRIZETZA=T-H
31 December 2022
¥ ] ABRRE
BRAI= -= BE-F nERE REE
Weighted On
average demand or Total
effective less than Over  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1year 1year cash flows amount
TR Tin TiEn THn
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
EREFEH Trade payables 17,449 17 449 17,449
JIREMENTRRETER Financial liabilities included in
LERARE other payables and accruals 23,264 - 23,264 23,264
B3 Borrowings 122,270 219,281 341,551 320,104
Ef—RRR R Amount due to a sharefolder 2871 : 2871 2871
ERES Convertible bonds 27122 431,268 458,390 320,048
192,956 650,549 843,505 683,716
=$=-#1Zf=t-8
31 December 2021
¥ REXY, AMRRE
ERAE SR-% BB-F RERE KEE
Weighted On
average demand or Total
effective less than Over  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year 1 year cash flows amount
TR TiEn TR THR
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ENEHER Trade payables - 13364 - 13,364 13364
SRR ENTRRETER Financial liabilities included in
JeRARk other payables and accruals - 134,351 - 134,351 134,351
&3 Borrowings 812 947,157 s 947,157 876,043
Ef—BRR IR Amount due to a shareholder - 39,958 - 39,98 39,958
1,134,830 - 1,134,830 1,063,716
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BE_ZTZF+=-H=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

[continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group does not have significant exposures to foreign
currency risk as most of its business transactions, assets
and liabilities are principally denominated in the functional
currencies of the respective subsidiaries. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy
in respect of foreign currency transactions, assets and
liabilities. The Group will monitor its significant foreign
currency exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No
changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes
for managing capital during the year ended 31 December
2022 and 31 December 2021.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HEZZZ_F+-HA=+—HBILFE For the year ended 31 December 2022 HEZTZ-ZF+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2022
4. AT Z B #EARR R 41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 4. XATBZMBEARRT B 41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY
RRRRH|ERRZ T BRAKE Information about the statement of financial position of the [continued)
BT - Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:
—EFE-—F
—=F-= —E-—F +=A=+—H
el T —A=1T—H S a3 December
31 December 31 December 2022 2021
2022 2021 i Fiix
TiBT TiE 7T HK$’000 HK$’000
HK$°000 HK$°000
ot FRBEE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
FRBEE NON-CURRENT ASSET i Borrowings S .
B AR A Investments in subsidiaries 990,467 1,752,000 R Convertible bonds 320,048 _
T 1T - S ~
AEEE CURRENT ASSETS BEERIEBE Deferred tax liabilities 6,861
JE W B 1~ R kIR Amounts due from subsidiaries 218,108 236,597
B RIR Prepayments 1,524 2,387 JEMEBBIERTE Total non-current liabilities 532,421 =
Eﬁé&fﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ Cash and bank balances 257 72
N N BEFE Net assets 673,203 1,138,523
MBEEERR Total current assets 219,889 239,056 '
N R EQUITY
mBEE N i LES B BT RRAS lssued capital 3,950 658,439
B EMFRIBERETER Other payables and accruals 1,861 87,576 B (B EE) Reserves (note] 669 253 480,084
ﬁﬁﬁf%%’( Bank borrowings = 22,785 : :
HAbfER Other borrowings = 696,604 FE S4B EE Total equity 673.203 1,138,523
e — R IR IR Amount due to a shareholder 2,871 45,568
. . MBWMER _TE_=F=H=+mMm The financial statement was approved and authorised for
RS R Total current liabilities 4732 892,533 Z‘«§$A%Tﬁt&&%ﬂm I 5 issue by the board of directors on 24 March 2023 and was
RBEE (BE)FE NET CURRENT ASSETS/ MIERRRR signed on its behalf by:
(LIABILITIES) 215,157 (613,477)
EERERRBAE TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES 1,205,624 1,138,523
MEELEE hEr &S+
Mr. Shum Sai Chit Ms. Chi Sile
EFE -
Director Director

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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41.

180

— b ) -
RRTzHBRRTR @ 41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY
[continued] (a)
B 3E Note:
KRR FEREMT A summary of the Company's reserves is as follows:
&X RRES
RIDEER #ARE e RE#E BRERE ZitER
Share Capital Convertible Share
premium Contributed redemption bond equity option  Accumulated
account surplus reserve reserve reserve losses Total
TiEx TiEx TiEx TiEx TEx TiEx TiEx
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZF=—%—-A—-8 As at 1 January 2021 1,562,634 21,976 419 - 28,720 [610,458) 1,003,291
FEBERZEXLESR Loss and total comprehensive
expense for the year - - - - - (525,439) (525,439)
BRBEERE Share option lapsed = = = - 628) 628 S
REEEROARIZS Equity settled share-based
transactions - - - - 2,232 - 2,232
R-ZF=—F As at 31 December 2021 and
+=ZA=+-Bk 1 January 2022
—F--%—-A-H (1,135,269 480,084
FEEERZEBELE Loss and total comprehensive
loss for the year = (531,519 (531,519
BAER Capital reorganisation 655,147 - 655,147

BORG - ABRRHRAE

Issue of shares, net of
transaction cost

BATARARE 5 Issue of convertible bonds
BRTABRRESEREL Deferred tax related to
RERIE issuance of convertible
bonds
BRMERE Share option lasped
RELEROARZZS Equity settled share-based
transactions
RZZEZZF+=ZH As at 31 December 2022
=+-H

- 28,972

= 42,512

ARRZBABBERE-NNL=
FARA B EMATATETZ &
BEAMEEBZHBRRRN 2
REBBARBILERMMEITL
ARREDEEZ D - RE—N
N—FBRERRE  —ERAA
EETHBERT  UBABRBRERAZ
RBEREKEERDIK ©

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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The Company’s contributed surplus represents the excess
of the fair value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired
pursuant to the Group reorganisation prior to the listing of
the Company’s shares in 1993, over the nominal value of
the Company’s shares issued in exchange therefor. Under
the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, a company may make
distributions to its members out of the contributed surplus
in certain circumstances.

4. FEEFARIAREE

RZEBE-_—FA=-H —H
PR B AR EE M BRER
THEFENE R RERATR
B E KGR RARER  BE
PSR (TSR] - BRESR
KRR E - RITMAZP BB
NAERERR  BXRIAEE
FTEREEZEARES RAE » B5F
HNREEGL 266,6677T @ ERHE
RFNB REEINRIE - SE MR
BRIEEER -

RZEZ—F<HAZH  —
MABRMNBARBAILTRE
cBEEEERAR(ALX
Z])  EE-EPRBITEY
HILREZERAEHERH K
REEHROFBREREA SR
(T2Ak])) - BEBRRRME -
RITAZTREMBARIRE

R ERIUBEEMBEREER
KeRHME @ BEAFHARK
64,266,6677C + BRI R B K
gﬁﬁﬁvﬁﬁ@ﬁﬁ&ﬁ@
Z2H -

RZE-_—_F=A+/,"B &
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RZER(BWERDE ALK
ZRHITREE NRKH -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BE_ZTZF+=-H=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2022

42. LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a)

On 2 June 2021, a PRC subsidiary were served by
a writ of summons (the "Writ"] in a court in PRC
by a PRC bank against the PRC subsidiary for its
noncompliance to the terms and conditions of a loan
granted. According to the Statement of Claim, the bank
is pursuing claims against the PRC subsidiary for an
immediate repayment of all outstanding principal and
interest, in the sum of approximately RMB64,266,667,
as well as the default interest thereon, further or other
relief and related costs.

On 2 June 2021, Baishan City Tianan Magnesium
Resources Company Limited ("Baishan Tianan”), a PRC
subsidiary, was served by a writ of summons (the "Writ")
in a court in PRC by a PRC bank against Baishan Tianan
for its non-compliance to the terms and conditions of
a loan granted. According to the statement of claim,
the bank is pursuing claims against the PRC subsidiary
for an immediate repayment of all outstanding
principal and interest, in the sum of approximately
RMB64,266,667, as well as the default interest thereon,
further or other relief and related costs.

On 16 March 2022, the Company received a written
ruling from Baishan Intermediate People's Court of
Jilin Province (the "Baishan Court”) issued to Baishan
Tianan, which stated that according to the ruling,
the bank applied for the frozen of 1 plot of land, 14
properties and the mining rights owned by Baishan
Tianan, with a frozen period of three years, and the
frozen of bank accounts held by Baishan Tianan with a
frozen period of one year, pursuant to which Baishan
Tianan cannot transfer or disposal of the frozen assets
during the frozen period.

On 22 December 2022, Baishan Court ruled that the
freezing of the mining rights of Baishan Tianan be
released.
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42.

43.
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In view of the above and the freezing assets owned by
Baishan Tianan will not affect the Group’s continued
operation, in the absence of unforeseen circumstances,
the Company is not expected the freezing would have
a material adverse effect on the Group’'s business
operations.

Baishan Tianan will continue the negotiation with the
bank to have the freezing order released as soon as
possible.

(b) Reference is made to the announcement of the
Company dated 1 August 2021, the Company received
a written ruling (the "Ruling”] from Linyi Intermediate
People’s Court ("Linyi Court”) regarding a PRC bank’s
application to enforce guarantees of loans amounting to
RMB124.96 million granted to Shandong Hongri by the
bank that have been provided by certain subsidiaries of
the Group.

On 25 November 2021, the PRC bank had submitted an
application to Linyi Court to withdraw the enforcement.
Pursuant to the written ruling from Linyi Court dated 1
December 2021, such application was approved and the
enforcement was withdrawn.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors consider that up to
report date there were no significant litigations would have
material adverse impact on the business, operation and
financial position of the Group.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There are no material events undertaken by the Group
subsequent to 31 December 2022 and up to date of this
report.

AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 24 March
2023.

AR A IR E LI RER 2 EH P

This summary does not form part of the audited financial
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4 RESULTS
“E-0\F BN S Z3--F =
TZA=t-B +ZA=+-8 +ZA=T-8B TZA=t-H Rk
LEE LFE LFE LEE LEFE
For the year For the year For the year For the year For the year
ended ended ended ended ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
TER Tan Thn TAn Tan
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
MIEE (i) HFEE()
T KtzE i) R B i
Note (i) and Note (i) and
Note (ii Note (ii
BELERH Continuing operations
WA Revenue 1,537,781 1,515,291 744,836 416,060 383,899
RAngR/ (B8 Profit/[loss) before tax 267,52 263128 (68,648) (326,725) 5,632
&R Income tax (49,835) (53,39) (5,363) [5,158) (4,228)
RERERE Profit/lloss) for the year from
RHELEEKRT/ (BB) continuing operations 217,491 209,732 (74,011) (331,883) (WA
RACK HBEER G/ Profit/[loss) from discontinued
(%) operations 48,169 - - -
AEEER/ (B8 Profit/[loss) for the year 285,860 209,732 (74,011) (331,883
PTATEEEH /(B8 - Profit/[Loss| attributable to:
ARARERE A Fauity holders of the Company 285,172 209,732 (74,011) (331,883)
JEEHIER Non-controlling interests 88 - - -
AERET/ (B8) Profit/[loss) for the year 285,860 209,732 (76,011) (331,883)
HHERNERIERER AR

2022 BFEHRE
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY (CONTINUED)

AEREE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
RZB-NE RIZ-NF  ROTCEF ROTC-F ot
{ERZi-B {Zt-m 42A=f-B toAzi-o [EEEAE
As at As at As at As at As at
31December ~ 31December ~ 31December 31 December [RECHRIE) I
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
T TiEn TiEx TiEn THn
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HraEil FiraE)
Note (i) Note (i)
BERE Total assets 2372218 2,554,324 2,556,832 2360619 1,873,174
AELE Total liahilities (1,101,001) (1,166,437) (1,104,910) (1171,677) (777,222)
121217 1387887 1451922 1,188,942 1,095,952
ARaiER S AEGRE Fquity attributable to equity holders
of the Company 121217 1387887 1451922 1,188,942 1,095,952
121217 1387887 1451922 1,188,942 1,095,952
B 5 Notes:
(i) RERBERBBIZLBRETNIZHEEFEE I (i) The comparative figures of the results and asset and liabilities have been prepared
ZEFFRMGER - based on the previous annual report published in the corresponding years.
(ii) AEBZz 2WHNEE—_T-N\F+=-A=+—H (ii) The Group has re-presented as if the operation discontinued during the year ended 31
IFFEZ BRIEREEBN L BRNEERLE - December 2018 had been discontinued at the beginning of the comparative period.
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